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Executive Summary
The Budget and Public Finance in Hong Kong

Purpose of this Report
This Report aims to produce a set of the HKSAR Government accounts on an accrual basis in order
to gain insights into the true state of public finance in Hong Kong. This Report also examined the post1997 policy addresses and budgets to review decisions and how they were made.

What is the Budget?
The Budget is a political document, not just a set of accounts. It expresses government policy in
numbers. Thus, reading the numbers without reference to the government’s decisions is meaningless.
By examining past policy addresses and budgets together, one gets a truer sense of the totality of the
HKSAR Government’s decision-making since 1997. In considering Hong Kong’s public finance, both
the method of accounting as well as the government’s fiscal policy needs to be understood.

Review of policy addresses and budgets
A review of the post-1997 policy addresses and budgets post-1997 shows the style of policy-making
in the HKSAR. The government practiced “assumption-based” rather than “evidence-based” policymaking. The lack of expertise within the highest level of the policy-making structure indicates that the
HKSAR Government needs to substantially strengthen its policy ability and capacity. There also
appears to be a lack of any process to review policy failures to enable decision-makers to learn from
mistakes. The lack of public confidence in the government has much to do with this problem.
The 2003 Policy Address’s attempt to deflect budgetary responsibility from the post-1997 to the pre1997 administration is unfortunate as it would further impede those in power from understanding the
impact of their past actions. The immediate cause of Hong Kong’s fiscal crunch today was the Chief
Executive’s spending spree in 1998-1999, where recurrent spending was increased without increasing
revenue. To regain confidence in the Tung Administration, the public needs to hear a comprehensive
and convincing analysis of the issues involved.

Take a broad view of public finance
Decision-makers need to ensure that they have framed the problem of the “deficit” correctly in order to
identify the appropriate solution options. There is a danger that the level of debate will focus mostly on
issues such as cutting civil service salaries and headcount, whether to tax foreign domestic helpers,
and getting students to pay more for their education, whereas it would be more helpful to use the 5
March 2003 Budget to start a dialogue with the public on the impact on Hong Kong’s public finance of
globalisation and China opening up of her markets (i.e., the external structural issues), so that any
spending and taxation reform could be seen in that light rather than solely on the basis of individual
items of expenditure. The Financial Secretary should take a broad view of Hong Kong’s public finance
instead of dealing with the “deficit” on a piece-meal basis.

Depegging is not the solution
This is not the time to break Hong Kong’s longstanding linked exchange rate mechanism, as de-linking
alone is not the solution to Hong Kong’s fiscal challenge. There are many other issues to consider. In
any event, to de-link at a time when there is a lack of confidence in the HKSAR Government’s ability
to manage the process and to put in place a new mechanism would be politically foolhardy.

Hong Kong’s fiscal responsibility

4

It is critical to take a broad view of public finance to enable the public to see the problem inherent in
Hong Kong’s fiscal regime. Any fiscal regime that can swing from generating surpluses of about 6% of
GDP to deficits of about the same magnitude within a period of just a few years needs overhauling.
The heavy reliance on land, land-related, and investment income revenues (i.e., the internal structural
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issues) in the immediate past is unsustainable. Tax reform is needed. It is the responsibility of every
government to ensure that its budgetary decisions are consistent with sustainable public finance over
the long term to ensure that they promote economic growth and continuous social development.
The HKSAR Government uses cash accounting in its financial reporting and budgeting. There are
advantages and disadvantages.

• Cash accounting
On the positive side, cash accounting is simple and useful in measuring actual expenditure. On the
negative side, the HKSAR Government’s Consolidated Accounts do not reflect all the government’s
activities, there is inadequate distinction between capital and revenue expenditure, and it can be
difficult to make management decisions on cash-based accounts only. Moreover, there are problems
for the government in controlling costs. Departmental expenditure analysis does not include all
departmental costs, expenditure analysis by policy areas is often not available, and government units
often rush to spend their budget in cash before the end of the financial year because there is no
mechanism for carrying unused amounts forward.

• Accrual accounting
The HKSAR Government is right to be adopting accrual accounting later in 2003 to provide an
additional tool to manage public finance. It will help to make the true cost of providing a public service
more transparent because it will be easier to match input with output. Providing a set of accrual
accounts will also enable everyone to have a clearer view of Hong Kong’s “balance sheet”, which as
of today is strong.

What is the size of the “deficit”?
Through this Report Civic Exchange attempts to produce the HKSAR Government accounts on an
accrual basis in order to provide a more comprehensive view of the state of Hong Kong’s public
finance. The exercise shows that while the total deficit for 2001-2002 is estimated to be in the region
of HK$70 billion and the operating deficit is estimated to be HK$45 billion, the deficit is approximately
HK$38 billion if accounts were done on an accrual basis. Furthermore, when a loan item, of about
HK$7 billion, is taken out of recurrent expenditure as should be done under accrual accounting, the
“real” deficit for 2001-2002 should be in the region of HK$31 billion.
The accrual accounts provides a number of other insights. The government has more assets than
shown under the current method of accounting. Civil service pensions are a major liability that should
be transferred into a separate account from the government’s cash reserves. A new accounting item
needs to be included to show fixed assets and capital “work in progress” with an annual depreciation
charge.

Key policy questions
The exercise also points to a number of public-policy questions that Hong Kong should address as
soon as possible:
•

Should the government continue to pay cash for capital works?

•

Should land revenue be treated as income rather than capital, and how can land be taxed
differently than it is today via the land premium system for change of use?

•

What options are there for tax reform taking Hong Kong external and internal structural issues
into account?

•

What may be the political “trade-offs” necessary to reform the tax system?

•

How can Hong Kong promote greater competitiveness in the domestic economy?
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Part 1: The Politics of the Budget
The Budget and Public Finance in Hong Kong

1.1

Introduction

Hounded by accusations of incompetence and with its finances in disarray, the Tung Chee-hwa
Administration has lost the confidence of the people of Hong Kong. Now, with the Budget on 5 March,
the government has yet another opportunity to set public finances on the right course and restore
people’s faith in the future. But first it has to understand where it has gone wrong in the past.
Past policies were shaped by what those in power perceived at the time to be “problems”. For example,
the housing supply and the level of Hong Kong’s technological skills were seen as “problems” in the
early years of the Hong Kong Special Administration Region (HKSAR). Aggressive corrective initiatives
were pushed forward without sufficient testing of whether they really were problems. “Solutions” were
imposed in haste, leaving little time for thorough public debate and sacrificing opportunities for
alternative options to be considered. These hasty measures are now shown to have had major publicfinance implications.
The current pressing “problem” is the size of the budget deficit. So aggressive measures are being
applied to control the government’s recurrent expenditure. But our research shows that, in fact, the
future of the government’s income is the real challenge, not the size of the deficit (see Chapter 3). The
current bind is the result of the spending spree the First Term Administration embarked on in 19971998, when it raised expenditure without increasing income.
In considering the management of Hong Kong’s public finances, it is important to take into account how
revenue should be raised in an increasingly global world and with China opening up its markets.
Furthermore, Hong Kong needs to address how it is going to improve its competitive efficiency as well
as decide what kind of social infrastructure is needed for the 21st century. There is therefore an urgent
need to review Hong Kong’s tax system beyond what has already been done to ensure that the desire
to remain a low-tax jurisdiction can be achieved without compromising on such things as a qualitatively
better education system, a much cleaner environment, maintaining high public-health standards, and
providing decent social welfare for the needy. To raise sufficient revenue for continuous development,
we believe Hong Kong has to tax activities very differently in the future.
Now is the time for rigorous analysis and deliberation about public-finance alternatives. Hong Kong’s
current political structure has relatively weak policy capacity, within both the government and the
Opposition. This reduces opportunities for policy analysis and debate. Hong Kong does not lack the
knowledge, but a concerted effort needs to be made to focus on the issues at hand to increase our
policy capacity.
1.2

First term spending spree

Under Hong Kong’s current political system, the Chief Executive is at the centre of the political
agenda.1 With the introduction of the Principal Officials Accountability System on 1 July 2002, his
political appointees also play major roles. In fiscal matters, the Financial Secretary is the key person.
1.2.1 Past policy addresses and budgets
In his first Policy Address in October 1997, entitled Building Hong Kong for a New Era, the Chief
Executive’s agenda-setting was accompanied by a conscious spending spree in creating various
programmes, grants and funds. As the Chief Executive acknowledged at the time, this would lead to
“an increase of HK$7.7 billion in recurrent spending in the next financial year, rising to HK$18.6 billion

1
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A governmental agenda is defined as a list of subjects to which officials are paying serious
attention at any given time.
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annually for the financial year beginning in April 2001. Over the same five-year period, capital
expenditure of HK$88 billion will be incurred because of the initiatives”.2
The Chief Executive had the confidence to adopt an expansionary fiscal programme because the
HKSAR Government was rich after years of strong growth and budget surpluses. Furthermore, the
Financial Secretary had a rosy view of Hong Kong’s medium-term economic outlook.3 In the 19981999 Budget, entitled Riding Out the Storm: Renewing Hong Kong Strength, despite the onslaught of
the Asian financial crisis, the government predicted that for each of the next four years, Hong Kong
would enjoy budget surpluses and by 2001-2002 fiscal reserves would grow to HK$527 billion. GDP
was estimated to grow by 5% per year. Government spending was constructed with these numbers in
mind. Thus, even with higher expenditure, decision makers thought they were being fiscally prudent
by ensuring that the growth in government spending did not outstrip GDP growth over time.
By June 1998, it became clear that conditions were worse than expected. After the first Legislative
Council election in May 1998, legislators banded together to call for more to be done, resulting in a
mini-budget that gave away a HK$30 billion relief package.4 Thus, the HKSAR Government began to
spend more than it made through taxes and other revenue-raising means from 1998-1999 by drawing
down its reserves. From that moment on, it started to run operating account deficits.
By the time of the Chief Executive’s second Policy Address in October 1998, entitled From Adversity
to Opportunity, the economy was contracting faster than expected and having suspended land sales
after property prices nose-dived, the government knew it would have a budget deficit of over HK$20
billion. And yet it concluded that “we have the means to support our commitment to spending over the
next five years”.5
The Financial Secretary noted in March 1999 with his 1999-2000 Budget, entitled Onward with New
Strength, that the government’s budgetary numbers had become seriously out of line. The
government’s 1998-1999 and 1999-2000 spending plans were based on a combined GDP growth rate
of 8.5%, but the economy had actually contracted by more than 4.5%.6 In 1998, GDP growth actually
fell by 5.3%. In none of the years from 1963 to 1997 did Hong Kong see negative growth. Politically,
the Financial Secretary wanted to pack as much good news as possible into this Budget. His approach
in 1999 was to show that the government would continue to spend to develop large projects, look at
privatising public assets, and reduce government recurrent spending. He announced that the
government was looking at investing in the Cyberport project, that negotiations were about to conclude
for Hong Kong to build Hong Kong Disneyland, that the government would float a minority stake in the
publicly owned Mass Transit Railway Corporation (MTRC, now called the MTR Corporation), and civil

2

Policy Address, 8 October 1997, paragraph 153.
Since 1987, the government has used the Total Expenditure Growth Criterion (TEGC) as a
budgetary-management technique to carry out the Medium Range Forecast (MRF). The MRF
extended the previous planning timeframe from one to five financial years. One of the budgetary
criteria in the MRF is Total Expenditure Growth, which stipulates: “It is intended that, over time,
expenditure growth should not exceed the assumption as to the trend growth in GDP”. It had been
assumed that “over time” meant within a 5-year period. Article 107 of the Basic Law acknowledges
this criterion as it provides that the government should “keep the budget commensurate with the
growth rate of its gross domestic product”. Since 1987 and up until the 1998-1999 Budget, which
was the first post-1997 budget, the TEGC was consistently adhered to. Thus, the 1998-1999 Budget
violated the longstanding TEGC. In 1999, the then Secretary for the Treasury stated that there was
no firm definition for the term “over time” in the TEGC. See Tang, Shu-hung, The 2000-2001 Budget:
Stringent Spending Growth is Unwarranted, Policy Bulletin No. 15 March/April 2000, Hong Kong
Policy Research Institute Limited, www.hkpri.org.hk
4 On 22 June 1998, the Financial Secretary announced a 1998-1999 mini-Budget providing nine
fiscal measures.
5 Policy Address, 7 October 1998, paragraph 66.
6 1999-2000 Budget, 3 March 1999, paragraph 105.
3
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service pay would be frozen. To keep things upbeat, he gave a 10% tax rebate to taxpayers based on
the 1997-1998 assessment, costing the public purse HK$8.5 billion. He forecast then that there would
be a budget surplus of HK$8.3 billion in 2001-2002 and HK$14.5 billion in 2002-2003, and that while
reserves would drop from HK$458 billion to HK$383 by 2001, it would pick up again to HK$406 billion
by 2003.7
By October 1999, when the Chief Executive delivered his third Policy Address, entitled Quality People,
Quality Home, the government was concluding: “The worse is now behind us”.8 Indeed, the 1999-2000
Budget out-turn suffered only a HK$1.6 billion deficit because of an unexpected growth in the earnings
on fiscal reserves invested with the Exchange Fund. The rise in the Hang Seng Index from 10,049 at
the end of 1998 to 16,962 (+70%) at the end of 1999 boosted the value of the government’s portfolio
of Hong Kong stocks,9 producing investment earnings of HK$44 billion. By taking that whole amount
on its books, the government essentially decided to wipe out the deficit.
With the 2000-2001 Budget, entitled Scaling New Heights, the Financial Secretary was confident that
the “economy had staged a distinct turnaround” resulting in a 2.9% GDP growth in real terms.10 He
forecast a trend growth of 4% annually for 2000-2003, higher than his previous year’s forecast of 3.5%.
He was therefore willing to provide additional spending and forecast a modest HK$6.2 billion deficit for
2000, assuming that the public offering of shares for the MTRC would bring in HK$30 billion between
2001 and 2002. The final deficit out-turn was in fact HK$11.4 billion.11 Despite the generally positive
tone, the Financial Secretary raised the question of whether Hong Kong’s successive operating deficits
was “cyclical” or “structural” in nature. The Secretary for the Treasury was asked to head an internal
Task Force to examine the “viability of our existing tax regime”, and, in parallel, a special Advisory
Committee was set up to look into the possibility of introducing new types of taxes.12
The Chief Executive sounded comfortable in October 2000 when delivering his fourth Policy Address,
entitled Serving the Community, Sharing Common Goals. He thought there was still some room for
spending. The 2001-2002 Budget, Honing Our Strengths, Striving to Excel, provided the happy news
that GDP grew a staggering 10.5% in 2000. GDP growth for 2001 was estimated to grow by 4%. Thus,
the situation appeared far from desperate with a deficit forecast of HK$3 billion, with fiscal reserves
falling to HK$429.9 billion at March 2002 and an operating deficit of HK$16.6 billion. The Financial
Secretary estimated that the operating deficit would ease by 2004-2005, but his deficit forecast would
prove to be wrong by a very large margin.
The October 2001-2002 Policy Address, Building on our Strengths, Investing in our Future, did not
raise any particularly troubling signs, perhaps because the Chief Executive did not wish to highlight
serious problems just before announcing his bid for re-selection. By December 2001, he had declared
his intention to stand again. By February 2002, it was clear that Tung Chee-hwa would continue to be
Chief Executive for a Second Term of Office.13
Shortly thereafter, the Task Force on Review of Public Finances released its report and noted: “To
continue the current fiscal ‘lifestyle’ is … not an option … decisive actions are needed to restore fiscal
sustainability … the government should accord priority to controlling the growth of government
expenditure”.14

7

1999-2000 Budget, 3 March 1999, paragraph 136.
Policy Address, October 1999, paragraph 35.
9 In August 1998, the government in an unprecedented move began to intervene in the stock market
by buying up huge amounts of shares as the market dropped.
10 2000-2001 Budget, 8 March 2000, paragraph 35.
11 Between the 1998-1999 and the 2000-2001 Budgets, the accumulated real government
expenditure growth was 5.7% higher than the corresponding accumulated real GDP growth.
12 Ibid, paragraph 206.
13 On 17 April, Tung made a special announcement to put in place the new ministerial accountability
system by the start of his new term.
14 Final Report to the Financial Secretary, February 2002.
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1.2.2 Marked change of tone in 2002
By the time the new Financial Secretary delivered his 2002-2003 Budget on 6 March 2002, the tone
had turned sombre. Economic performance for 2001 was much worse than expected – it grew only
0.1% and unemployment had climbed to 6.7%. He forecast that GDP would grow 1% for 2002 and 3%
in the medium term. The deficit for 2001-2002 was estimated to reach HK$65.6 billion (equivalent to
5.2% of GDP), far larger than the previous HK$3 billion forecast. Fiscal reserves stood at HK$369.8
billion in March 2002, equivalent to 19 months of government expenditure. The Financial Secretary
had made up his mind that Hong Kong's public finance faced structural problems and proposed to
restore fiscal balance by 2006-2007. Nevertheless, he allowed government expenditure to grow by 2%
in real terms for 2001-2002. No immediate proposals on the revenue side was made, but the Financial
Secretary noted that the government would continue to study new taxes, such as a Goods and
Services Tax (GST). For the time being, the aim was to reduce the growth of public expenditure from
22% to 20% of GDP by 2006-2007. He had hoped to cut HK$3 billion by reducing civil service pay by
4.75% but in the end only managed a smaller reduction.
Figure 1: Fiscal Surplus/Deficit 1994-1995 to 2000-200115

15

In the 2001-2002 Budget, the government forecast a deficit of HK$3 billion, HK$6.8 billion and
HK$5.9 billion respectively for the three financial years of 2001-2002, 2002-2003 and 2003-2004,
and a surplus of HK$10.2 billion for 2004-2005. The latest information for 2001-2002 showed a likely
deficit of over HK$60 billion. See Background Information for the Financial Secretary with LegCo
Members, www.info.gov.hk/fstb/tb/budget02-02/budget-consultation/e_content.htm
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The Chief Executive’s annual Policy Address was moved from October 2002 to 8 January 2003.
Entitled Capitalizing on Our Advantages, Revitalizing Our Economy, he noted: “The major cause of our
fiscal deficit lay in the rise in public expenditure … In the six years between 1991-1992 and 1996-1997,
public expenditure grew on average 14% annually. From 1997-1998 to 2001-2002, we took steps to
cut spending … But public expenditure still continued to grow at an average annual rate of 5% … Our
target is to reduce … Government’s projected spending of HK$220 billion in the operating accounts in
2006-2007 by HK$20 billion. We also intend to introduce appropriate tax increases and adjust
government fees and charges upwards to help eliminate the fiscal deficit”.16 The 2001-2002 deficit may
be over HK$70 billion.17
Figure 2: Successive Years of Operating Deficit18

1.2.3 Observations
i. Deflecting responsibility
The Chief Executive put the cause of Hong Kong’s fiscal deficit at the feet of the pre-1997 colonial
government for expanding public expenditure at a greater rate than annual growth. It should be noted
that the pre-1997 government’s longstanding Total Expenditure Growth Criterion was never breached

16

Policy Address, 8 January 2003, paragraphs 46 and 47.
Chief Executive, speech at the joint chambers of commerce luncheon on 10 January 2003.
18 Since 1998-1999, the government’s operating expenditure has exceeded its operating revenue. In
the 2001-2002 Budget, the government forecast an operating deficit of HK$16.6 billion, HK$9.3
billion, HK$5.6 billion and HK$4 billion respectively for the four financial years from 2001 to 2005.
The latest updated for 2001-2002 showed a likely operating deficit of HK$37 billion.
17
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from 1987, when the budgetary mechanism was established, till the 1998-1999 Budget.19 The
departing colonial government no doubt wanted its final few years to go well, and it was also in the
interest of the Chinese government that the transition went smoothly. Thus, with strong growth and
large budget surpluses, the general feeling was that Hong Kong could afford a higher level of spending.
Moreover, Hong Kong had a number of significant issues that had been neglected in the past that
needed urgent correction. Put simply, its social and environmental infrastructure needed to catch up
with the developed world’s standards. There is still much catching-up to do. There is also evidence that
the Tung Administration had problems controlling costs. Deflation since 1997 has been a phenomenon
of the private sector, not the public sector. As an example, what cost the public sector HK$100 in
December 1997 cost it HK$103.67 by September 2002.20
It is damaging for the current Administration to try to deflect responsibility for the deficit. With such
robust wealth in 1997, it was understandable that the Chief Executive wanted to embark on a series
of programmes that he thought were important as Hong Kong started life as a part of China, but the
fact of the matter is that he did go on a spending spree at the start of his First Term of Office, whole
failing to control costs and increasing revenue. By deflecting responsibility for this, the Administration
runs the danger of failing to properly assess the consequences of its past actions, which makes
winning public trust and moving ahead more difficult.
ii. Lack of joined-up articulation
From the foregoing account, it is clear that the Administration has yet to articulate Hong Kong’s publicfinance challenge in a coherent manner. There is no clear thinking and joined-up policy analysis. While
successive policy addresses and budgets talked about China opening up its markets and world
markets becoming more global, the Administration did not articulate how these factors would impact
on Hong Kong’s public finances. In 2000, when the Financial Secretary created the internal Task Force
to examine Hong Kong’s tax regime, and when the final Report was published in 2002, the emphasis
was on how the HKSAR Government might need to collect more taxes using essentially the existing
tax regime, rather than take a fresh look at whether there were better ways to raise public revenues in
light of changing conditions. The only new idea was the possibility of imposing a GST. Furthermore,
while acknowledging that revenue from land transactions would decrease significantly, the
Administration has yet to think about how to tax land differently.21 The inability to take a broader view
of public-finance management in a world of dynamic change means that the Administration remains
stuck with looking at options in a static manner.
1.3

The framing of “problems”

Policy-making involves the setting of the government’s agenda. And agenda-setting very much
depends on what those in power perceive to be the “problems” that need to be addressed. The
19

See footnote 3. It should also be noted that in the 1995-1996 Budget, the then Financial Secretary
stated that: “Since the introduction of the Medium Rage Forecast in 1986-1987, total government
expenditure has increased in real terms by 68%, compared to cumulative GDP real growth over the
same period of 69%.” See Speech of the Financial Secretary in concluding the Debate on the 2nd
Reading of the Appropriation Bill, 25 March 1995, paragraph 15.
20 van der Kamp, Jake., Government’s first step should be cutting its costs, South China Morning
Post, 11 January 2003.
21 The Task Force noted that “a fundamental change has occurred in the property market, making it
a much smaller generator of government revenue, whether directly in the form of premiums (from
land sales and land use modifications) and stamp duty (from property transactions) or indirectly
through property-related profits tax revenue”. See Final Report to the Financial Secretary, Task Force
on Review of Public Finances, February 2002, p.38. The Advisory Committee on New Broad-based
Taxes, which also report at the same time, was never asked to look at how land was being taxed
and whether any changes would be desirable.
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agenda-setting process depends on how they articulate the “problems”, which in turn depends on their
values and preferences. To “correct” the “problems”, new policy initiatives often involve a redistribution
of costs and benefits. The following is a review of two “problems” that the Administration sought
to address.
When he took the reins of power in 1997, the Chief Executive identified various conditions that needed
correcting. These included what he saw as Hong Kong’s “bubble economy”, and weak technological
ability. He based his ensuing policy agenda on the belief that Hong Kong had a “bubble economy” that
was too narrowly based. His assessment that the “financial and real estate sectors have been the main
pillars of the Hong Kong economy”22 led him to attempt to correct the “bubble” by injecting resources
to broaden Hong Kong’s economic base, for example in the area of information technology (IT), and
to wrestle with high property prices by increasing land and housing supply, as well as setting a target
to increase the home ownership rate from 45% to 70% within 10 years.
1.3.1 The Cyberport controversy
In the area of technology, the Chief Executive gave his backing to IT and the Cyberport development.
The decision to grant one company the right to develop the Cyberport was stitched together hastily for
a high-profile announcement at the time of the 1999 Budget. The idea was to provide a boost in a year
of lacklustre economic performance. The project remains controversial. There were two main issues
at the time. First, whether the Cyberport was truly an IT-project and not a property development.
Second, whether the government should have by-passed its own standard tendering procedures to
award the project to one developer. The government argued that because the Cyberport was an
exceptional IT project, and in order to build it quickly, granting the development rights to the company
it felt most qualified to carry out the scheme was the best option. Today, with the initial construction
phase about to be completed, it is hard to argue that other developers could not have done just as well.
The allegation of favouritism plagues the Chief Executive to this day.23
Of the HK$13 billion budget for the project, HK$7 billion would come from the developer and the rest
was a contribution from the public purse, including the cost of the land and the infrastructure needed
to make the project viable. The HKSAR Government will own the completed Cyberport and receive
rental income. Now a new controversy has arisen. The government’s efforts to attract tenants to the
development has enraged private sector landlords, who claim that the government is depressing the
office rental market by offering better terms to their existing tenants.24
1.3.2 Effect of housing policy on the economy
In the area of housing, the Chief Executive’s 1997 Policy Address announced that the government
would “build at least 85,000 flats a year in the public and private sectors” and “achieve a home
ownership rate of 70% in 10 years”.25 The Chief Executive believed that home ownership was “crucial
for nurturing a sense of belonging and maintaining social stability”, thereby giving owners a greater
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Policy Address, 7 October 1998, paragraph 5. The Chief Executive referred to Hong Kong’s
“bubble” economy on many occasions but also in his 2001 Policy Address (paragraph 5) and again
in the 2003 Policy Address (paragraph 9). The current Financial Secretary also believes Hong Kong
experienced a “bubble economy in the years up to and including 1997”, 2002-2003 Budget
(paragraph 9).
23 Lau, Siu-kai., Tung Chee-hwa’s Governing Strategy: The Shortfall in Politics, The First Tung Cheehwa Administration: The First Five Years of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (edited by
Lau Siu-kai), Chinese University Press (2002), p. xx and p. 15-16. See also Loh, Christine., How the
Hong Kong Government makes decisions, CLSA Emerging Markets (September 2000).
24 Press conference after the Cambridge House Topping Out Ceremony by Swire Properties on 16
September 2002.
25 Policy Address, 8 October 1997, paragraph 52.
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sense of security at a time of political change.26 He believed that the housing problem then was
caused by “inadequate supply”,27 which caused “prices to soar and creating opportunities for
speculators”. His solution was to increase supply dramatically and devise anti-speculation measures.28
He thought the problems of tight land supply and high prices under British rule, if allowed to continue,
would erode Hong Kong’s competitiveness. His various measures were meant to have a dampening
effect on prices.
Financially, housing was given top budget priority. In the following 1998-1999’s Budget, total spending
on housing was HK$48.9 billion — an increase of 52.1% over 1997-1998. Over the five years up to
2001-2002, the government would spend HK$11 billion to accelerate housing-related infrastructure.29
Furthermore, to promote home ownership, the Chief Executive stated in his 1997 Policy Address that
he would give the opportunity to at least 250,000 families living in public rental housing to buy their
flats at deep discounts under the Tenant Purchase Scheme (TPS). He also announced plans to build
more subsidised Home Ownership Scheme (HOS) units and to increase other types publicly build
flats.30 Evidence suggests that the TPS lowered housing prices across the board as it had a multiplier
effect on other tiers of housing and had the unfortunate effect of causing a substantial drop in housing
turnover and therefore affected the market negatively.31
1.3.3 Observations
i. Danger of lax thinking
The current Administration needs to reflect on why its investment in the Cyberport and its housing
policy are perceived to be major blunders. With the Cyberport, the decision was apparently made
without thorough analysis of the project and without reference to the proper role of government. As
owner of the development, the government is now in competition with private-sector landlords. At a
time when the government is hoping for a revival in property prices, its action may well have a
depressing effect on commercial tenancies. This example also shows that once a significant decision
has been made, it is very hard to reverse it.
As for the Chief Executive’s housing policy, it has since been completely abandoned. The new policy
initiatives announced in November 2002 reduced the supply of land and HOS housing, and halted the
TPS in the hope of stimulating demand. It also lifted the anti-speculation measures previously
imposed.32 In putting together a set of tools to solve the “problem” of supply and home ownership,
there was insufficient understanding of how the package of initiatives would affect the housing market,
which would in turn has impacted negatively on the economy as a whole.

26

Speech by Tung Chee-hwa, A Future of Excellence and Prosperity for All, 1 July 1997.
As a consequence of the Sino-British Joint Declaration (1984), the treaty signed between Britain
and China for the transfer of sovereignty over Hong Kong, the two governments agreed that up until
1997, the colonial administration would release only 50 hectares of land each year for development
except for public housing. See Annex III (Land Leases) Sino-British Joint Declaration, 19 December
1984.
28 Speech by Tung Chee-hwa, A Future of Excellence and Prosperity for All, 1 July 1997.
29 1998-1999 Budget, 18 February 1998, paragraph 88.
30 Policy Address, 8 October 1997, paragraph 62.
31 Ho, Lok Sang, Policy Blunder of the Century Threatens Hong Kong’s Economic Future, The First
Tung Chee-Hwa Administration, edited by Lau, Siu-kai, The Chinese University Press, 2002, p.182188.
32 LegCo Paper CB(1)301/02-03(01), 15 November 2002.
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ii. Insufficient understanding of the economy
Furthermore, there was a failure early on to appreciate that the Hong Kong economy was actually
much more broadly based than had been believed and that wealth was being created by small and
medium enterprises (SMEs) engaged in global manufacturing and services provision, particularly to
support the production of consumer products in the Pearl River Delta.33 As one scholar noted: “The
property market was at best a catalyst or a bridge that allows people working in the internal sector of
the economy to share the economic gains achieved by the external sector in the first instance”.34 The
rise in property prices was a result of high earnings and savings by households and of a high inflation
rate. Between 1986 and 1996, per capita GDP rose from HK$56,500 to HK$188,850. While
speculation was present, it was not the cause of high prices.
The Chief Executive has yet to appreciate that his assumption that the Hong Kong economy was too
narrowly based was in fact off the mark. Indeed, he continues to refer to Hong Kong’s pre-1997 “bubble
economy”.35 His new insight is that Hong Kong’s private sector is acting as a transforming economic
force in the Pearl River Delta,36 but he has yet to put the two together to make better sense of the Hong
Kong economy as a whole. While there was a “property bubble”, there was no “bubble economy”.
iii. Systemic weakness in policy capacity
Our concern is that the Administration has a history of embarking upon important initiatives without a
thorough grasp of the circumstances. This works against identifying real “problems” and causes errors
in policy and in setting priorities. Hasty decision-making may be exacerbated by the political system,
where there are few checks and balances to catch mistakes or to provide policy fine-tuning. There are
simply not enough experienced policy contributors among Hong Kong’s political appointees and
among those in Opposition. The result is an absence of rigorous analysis and debate. This lack of
policy capacity is a systemic problem that can be cured only by the Administration and Opposition
taking policy analysis much more seriously.
1.4

State of public finances

Chapter 3 contains our analysis of Hong Kong’s true financial position. We recommend that Chapter 3
be read carefully as it provides what Hong Kong’s finances would look like if the accounts are done on
an accrual basis. Hong Kong’s financial position is one of considerable strength. But it needs to set
itself on a new footing to generate stable revenues. In our view, the way the Administration is portraying
Hong Kong’s public finances and what needs to be done deserves much closer scrutiny.
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The Census and Statistics Department’s data tell the story of Hong Kong’s transit to a service
economy supporting global manufacturing, see Statistical Digest of the Service Sector 2001 and
2002. See also Enright, Michael J., Scott, Edith E., Dodwell, David, The Hong Kong Advantage,
Oxford University Press (1997); Enright, Michael J., Scott, Edith E., and Leung, Edward, Hong
Kong’s Competitiveness Beyond the Asian Crisis, Trade Development Council, February 1999; Loh,
Christine, Hong Kong SMEs: Nimble and nifty, Transforming Hong Kong, CLSA, April 2002, and
Made in the PRD: The Changing Face of HK Manufacturers, Federation of Hong Kong Industries,
November 2002. The case of Hong Kong’s economic strength is well documented but works on the
subject appear to have eluded policy makers.
34 Ho, Lok Sang, Policy Blunder of the Century Threatens Hong Kong’s Economic Future, The First
Tung Chee-hwa Administration, edited by Lau, Siu-kai, The Chinese University Press, 2002, p.191.
35 Policy Address, 8 January 2003, paragraph 9.
36 Chief Executive, speech at the seminar on “New Era of the Pearl River Delta: Further integration
with the World Economy” organized by the Central Policy Unit on 9 January 2003, a day after the
Policy Address 2003.
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1.4.1 Level of fiscal reserves
When the Chief Executive took over the HKSAR Government in 1997, Hong Kong was in an enviable
financial position. Its fiscal reserves stood at HK$445.6 billion, there was a budget surplus of HK$77
billion in 1997, GDP grew 5.3% that year, and unemployment was at 2.2%.
The present level of reserves (particularly taking Chapter 3 into account), while down from 1997 levels,
should not present a serious problem, although falling reserves affect the public mood as people had
become used to seeing ever-growing reserves. More importantly, the negative mood has been affected
by a number of large and high-profile capital investments made during the Chief Executive’s First Term
of Office, such as housing and the Cyberport, where the reserves were used but where the public’s
perception is that the policies have not turned out well.
In the 1998-1999 Budget, the then Financial Secretary noted that healthy reserves was needed to
meet operating requirements, contingency requirements and the monetary requirements of public
finance. The operating requirement calls for enough money on hand to meet the government’s day-today cash-flow needs and to cover three months of expenditure. The contingency requirement is to
have nine months (+/- three months) of government expenditure in order to offset the effects of any
downswing in the economic cycle, or to cope with the consequences of any unforeseen events that
would have serious implications for public finance, such as the Asian financial crisis. As for Hong
Kong’s monetary requirements, the Financial Secretary adopted the Hong Kong dollar money supply
as the benchmark (+/-25%).37 In 1997, government expenditure was just under HK$200 billion and the
money supply averaged HK$202 billion. Thus, the fiscal reserves should have been between HK$300
and HK$500 billion.38 With HK$446 billion at 31 March 1998, the government was comfortable with the
level of reserves. By 2006-2007, the fiscal reserves are forecast to be around HK$270 billion. With
annual operating spending reduced to HK$200 billion, the current Financial Secretary’s view is that
Hong Kong will still have sufficient reserves to meet its operating and contingency requirements.39
1.4.2 Recurrent income and expenditure
The latest forecast showed that total revenue in 2001-2002 would be HK$194.7 billion, representing
HK$57 billion less than the original estimate of HK$251.7 billion.40 Expenditure in 2001-2002 is in the
region of HK$201.5 billion and projected to reach nearly HK$220 billion by 2006-2007.41
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1998-1999 Budget, 18 February 1998, paragraphs 57-61.
Policy Address, 12 February 1998, paragraph 62.
39 There has been no mention any more of the monetary requirements, which should not have been
included in the first place by the former Financial Secretary since that need is covered by the
separate Exchange Fund, which currently stands at approximately HK$600 billion.
40 Background Information for the Financial Secretary with LegCo Members,
www.info.gov.hk/fstb/tb/budget02-02/budget-consultation/e_content.htm
41 2002-2003 Budget, Appendix A, Section III, Table 4.
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Figure 3: Sources of Revenue (2001-2002)42

Figure 3 provides an overview of the latest government recurrent and capital-revenue sources. Figure
4 shows the revenue figures from the five largest revenue sources from 1997-1998 to 2001-2002,
including from the sale of one tranche of MTRC shares in 2000-2001. It can be seen that investment
income on the fiscal reserves43 and land premium accounted for a significant part of revenue, and that
estimated revenue from the sale of MTRC shares for 2001-2002 was an important source. It turned
out to be nil. The government’s revenue sources from these three areas are volatile. Investment
income on the fiscal reserves was down because the stock market has been weak and the amount of
the reserves has been reduced. A weak stock market likewise affected the further disposal of shares
of the MTRC.44 Land premium incomes have been much less because of the government’s land
sale moratorium.
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Background Information for the Financial Secretary with LegCo Members,
www.info.gov.hk/fstb/tb/budget02-02/budget-consultation/e_content.htm
43 In August 1998, the HKSAR Government diverted HK$118 billion from the Exchange Fund to
intervene in the stock market.
44 It was surprising that the Financial Secretary had included forecast receipts of HK$15 billion in
2002-2003 from the second tranche of the MTRC share offer in his 2003 Budget since the market
was already weak and the likelihood of a successful floatation was already in question.
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Figure 4: Revenue from Investment Income and Land Premium ($bn/%)45

The Task Force on Review of Public Finance Report also noted that “the consolidation in the property
market exerted a downward pressure on the yield from the property and banking sectors”, which
impacts government revenue from profits tax as well since property companies and banks contribute
a significant portion of profits tax.
Figure 5: Profits tax contribution from property and banking sectors46
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Background Information for the Financial Secretary with LegCo Members,
www.info.gov.hk/fstb/tb/budget02-02/budget-consultation/e_content.htm
46 Final Report to the Financial Secretary, February 2002, Table 10.
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Salaries tax and profits tax are the two most important sources of revenue for 2001-2002, contributing
40% of total income. Furthermore, in 1997-1998 there were 1.33 million salary taxpayers. But in 20012002, the taxpaying population is expected to have decreased to 1.2 million, despite the growth in the
number of employees from 3.16 million to 3.20 million over the same period. Over the last 10 years,
allowances and deductions have reduced the tax burden on taxpayers. In the 1998 Budget, the then
Financial Secretary provided yet more allowances and deductions.
As for expenditure, while spending on education and environmental protection has increased
significantly over the last decade, these are areas where more still needs to be done. This fact was
recognised by both pre-1997 and post-1997 administrations. For example, programmes to implement
100% whole-day primary schooling, reduce class sizes, improve teacher quality and increase the
number as well as quality of tertiary-education graduates will all need continuous injection of
resources.47 Likewise, to significantly improve the environment, Hong Kong still needs to complete
sewage and waste treatment projects. Further, innovative collaboration needs to be worked out with
the authorities in southern China to clean up regional air and water pollution. The emphasis on cutting
costs in the coming few years will not only have a bearing on social welfare recipients — the
Administration has already said there will be social welfare cuts — but on such areas as education and
environmental protection. It will not be just a matter of reducing headcounts; programmes will also be
negatively affected.
1.4.3 Observations
We suggest that the following section be read together with Chapter 3 for a fuller understanding of the
issues raised.
i. Need for a fundamental tax reform
The Financial Secretary and the Administration appear to be still tinkering around the edges rather than
considering fundamental tax reform. Instead of just thinking about bringing back those who fell out of
the tax net by reducing allowances and deductions and increasing the tax rate, the Financial Secretary
needs to deal with what he noted as “structural problems” in the sense that significant sources (landrelated incomes and investment income from fiscal reserves) are unlikely to reach former levels and
public expenditures are set to rise with an ageing population and the continuing need to meet Hong
Kong’s requirement to upgrade its hard and soft infrastructures.48 Since it can no longer depend on
land sales and investment income from the fiscal reserves, consistent revenues must come from taxing
either existing categories of activities more heavily or from taxing new types of activities.
ii. Profits tax under pressure?
The Administration needs to articulate a holistic view of public finance against the backdrop of
globalisation, China’s reforms, and the linked exchange rate system (see Chapter 2). For example,
should Hong Kong continue to not tax offshore income? The government needs to urgently assess
whether it is likely to see a reduction in profits tax in future years as Hong Kong registered companies
become more externally oriented. The Task Force noted that there is an increasing “outreach of the
Hong Kong economy to the Mainland and elsewhere, on the progressive opening up of the Mainland
markets and the globalisation of business activities. Conceivably, this development could have a
structural impact on the government’s tax revenue, particularly on direct tax revenue, due to the
territorial-source principle for tax liability demarcation (i.e., only Hong Kong-sourced profits and
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See Cheng, Kai-ming., Reinventing the Wheel: Education Reform, The First Tung Chee-hwa
Administration (edited by Lau, Siu-kai), Chinese University Press, 2002, p. 157-174.
48 2002-2003 Budget, 6 March 2002, paragraphs 48 and 49.
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salaries are liable to tax). The Task Force, however, has not been able to ascertain the magnitude of
any such effect at this stage”.49 The Financial Secretary needs to get to grips with this sooner rather
than later.

iii. Tax consumption, users and polluters?
The 2003 Policy Agenda has already noted that the government will tax passengers leaving Hong
Kong by land and sea from 2004.50 If the government does not wish to consider a significant increase
in profits tax or taxing offshore profits, then it may wish to consider a tax based on usage. This would
mean taxing consumption as well as users and polluters. Taxes could then take into account
“externalities”as well51 (see discussion also in Chapter 3).

iv. Abolish salaries tax?
One way the government could get public of approval of a GST would be by lowering salaries tax or
even abolishing salaries tax altogether. By doing away with salaries tax, it would send a clear signal to
the community that the government wishes to encourage the productive efforts of individuals.
Moreover, it would also comply with the Basic Law requirement that the HKSAR should practice a “low
tax policy”.52 The numbers are as follows: A 3% GST would yield an estimated HK$18 billion.53 A 6%
GST would yield HK$36 billion, which is more than its 2001-2002 salaries tax estimate (HK$32.3
billion).

v. Reform land taxation
Hong Kong has an unusual real property structure. Partly due to historical factors, partly because of
British land tenure practices and partly due to the policy choices of the former colonial administration,
virtually all land in Hong Kong is leasehold. With the government as the freeholder, it has practised a
policy of limited release of land (as vendor of leaseholds), which in the past enabled it to maintain high
land prices. Any change of existing usage requires the payment of a land use conversion to the
government. The premium is paid upfront — that is, before development begins — and is based on
the estimated final value of the completed development. With a soft land and property markets, the
government’s income has been greatly affected. One option is to tax land differently. The government
should consider a profits tax surcharge levied on profits realised on completion in compensation for the
granting of planning permission, instead of staying with the current land premium system.54 So far, the
Administration has shown no interest in reviewing this very important area.
1.5

Effects of a contracting fiscal policy

The Budget is the numerical expression of the agenda of those in power and is therefore a central part
of government activity. Programmes, ministers, departments and agencies are greatly affected by their
49

Task Force on Review of Public Finance, Final Report to the Financial Secretary, February 2002,
paragraph 46.
50 The 2003 Policy Agenda was released at the same time as the Policy Address 2003 on 8 January
2003, p.4.
51 Externalities are external costs and they arise whenever anyone does anything that directly makes
someone else worse off without compensating that person for it. An example is pollution.
52 Article 108 Basic Law.
53 Final Report to the Financial Secretary, Annexes, Advisory Committee on New Broad-based
Taxes, February 2002, p.6.
54 Brown, Stephen and Loh, Christine., Hong Kong: The Political Economy of Land, Civic Exchange,
June 2002, www.civic-exchange.org under Publications.
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budget share, which in turn impacts on the economy, individuals and businesses. A generous budget
share acts as a promoter of certain policies and activities, whereas budgetary constraint obliges cost
reduction and/or setting aside some things altogether.
What will wiping HK$20 billion per year off government recurrent expenditure do to the economy? The
first point to note is that the challenge may be less than it would initially appear if we used accrual
accounting to assess the state of Hong Kong’s finance. We go into detail in Chapter 3. Our assessment
is that the effect may be more political than economic. Just as the Chief Executive’s greatly
expansionary budgetary spending since 1998 did little to cure Hong Kong’s economic woes (while
failing to improve confidence), reducing spending by about the same amount is likely to have little
economic effect. But it could have a great political impact. The problem for the Chief Executive and the
Financial Secretary is the lack of confidence in their leadership. It is not that society and investors lack
funds (see Chapter 2). But budgetary cuts could lead to affected groups feeling even more disgruntled
than they are today. These would probably include welfare recipients, teachers, academics, social
workers, public sector doctors and civil servants.
1.5.1 Government’s economic roles
It is useful to consider the HKSAR Government’s economic roles to get an overall picture of the impact
of its policies:
1.

As Consumer: The government is a large consumer and buyer of goods and services,
including education, health care, law and order, public hygiene, fire-fighting services, etc. For
example, the government spends approximately 12% of its recurrent expenditure on security
and around 15% on health. This makes it a substantial producer of economic output. By paying
for the various services and products, the government contributes to the economy’s total
output as a component of GDP.

2.

As Investor: By building and paying for physical infrastructure, such as roads, piers, airport,
tunnels, public housing, industrial estates, sewage plants, and even theme parks, and also by
investing in human capital by providing education, training, and R&D,55 the government sector
invests in capital assets. Its investment activities also add to the economy’s total output as a
component of GDP.
Figure 6: Public Expenditure in the Economy56
1980s
16%

3.

55
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Mid-1990s
17%

2001-2002
22%

As Tax Collector: The HKSAR Government raises public revenue through taxation as well as
from a variety of other sources: rates, stamp duty, excise duties, betting duties and a range of
fees and charges for services provided by the government. The government sells land and
negotiates land premiums with developers for change of land use.

Transfer payments are not included as a part of GDP as they are not payment for services
rendered.
56 Figures from the 2002-2003 Budget paragraph 52. Public expenditure comprises government
expenditure and expenditure by the Trading Funds, the Housing Authority and payments from the
Lotteries Fund. Government expenditure accounts for the majority of public expenditure. In 20012002, government expenditure accounted for 88% of public expenditure. The share of public
expenditure in the economy is expressed as a percentage of GDP.
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4.

As Income Re-distributor: The government raises revenues by various means and makes
transfer payments to those in need through Comprehensive Social Security Assistance
(CSSA) and Social Security Allowance (SSA) payments.57

5.

As Employer: The HKSAR Government is the largest single employer in the local economy
— there are 178,000 civil servants in Hong Kong who are direct government employees,58
and 140,000 employees who work for various government subvented organisations.59 The
plan is to cut the size of the civil service down to 160,000 by 2006-2007.60

6.

As Landowner: Under Hong Kong’s leasehold system, the government owns the vast majority
of the land and decides when to release land for sale, as well as negotiating land premiums
for change of use by developers.

7.

As Landlord: The HKSAR Government is the largest landlord in the economy — nearly 50%
of households live in public housing of one form or another; and the Housing Authority is
also the largest commercial landlord of properties attached to public housing. As public
housing is heavily subsidised, there is also a high level of transfer payments to
the beneficiaries.

8.

As Regulator: The government regulates various aspects of economic life. For example, the
Monetary Authority regulates banks, the Environmental Protection Department administers
pollution-control legislation, the Securities and Futures Commission regulates securities
markets, and the Office of Telecommunication Authority regulates telecommunications, just to
name a few.

1.5.2 Drivers of the economy
In economic terms, demand is the driving force of the economy. Demand is the volume of total
spending, including purchases from outside the domestic economy, i.e. exports. When demand falters,
employment and incomes are also negatively affected. Demand arises from both the government and
private sectors. Demand can be consumer or investment spending by either sector. Private sector
demand comes from individuals/households and businesses. Public-sector demand comes from
government consumption and spending.
The level of individual/household consumption depends on wants, needs and, most importantly, the
premise that there is money to consume. For basic goods and services, the consumption pattern is
reasonably predictable, since they are not likely to vary too much, although luxury items and significant
purchases are usually affected during economic downturns.

57

The CSSA Scheme is non-contributory but means-tested. It provides cash assistance to qualified
recipients to meet basic needs. At the end of October 2002, there were 264,285 CSSA cases (54%
elderly; 15% unemploymentl 12% single-parent families; 8% temporary disability or ill health; 4% low
earnings; 5% permanent disability; and 2% others). The SSA Scheme is also non-contributory and
provides allowances to meet the special needs of disabled and elderly persons. There are four types
of SSA allowances: Normal Disability Allowance, Higher Disability Allowance, Normal Old Age
Allowance (age 65-69) and Higher Old Age Allowance (age 70 and above). An 11.1% cut is expected
to be announced with the 2003-2004 Budget, "ExCo backs proposal to cut welfare payments by
11.1%", South China Morning Post, 19 February 2003.
58 As of 30 September 2002, the total strength of the civil service was 178,798 www.csb.gov.hk.
59 Subvented organisations (NGOs) are given recurrent funding for the provision of social welfare
services in accordance with government policies.
60 Chief Executive, speech to the joint chamber luncheon on 10 January 2003.
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Business-investment spending in the private sector is tied to return expectations. These investments
are volatile because they depend on how businesses see the future, which is influenced by
government policies, business cycles, technological advancements, and unpredictable events (such
as war, natural disasters, etc). Government investment is not made for future profit but in order to
create the condition to stimulate private-sector investment.
Investment in large projects, such as a new airport or a trans-boundary bridge, whether by the private
or government sector, has a multiplier effect, in the sense that many businesses and individuals are
likely to benefit. Consumer spending does not create the same effect. Investment therefore is a more
powerful driver of demand. Consumption may be said to be “driven”, rather than driving the economy.
1.5.3 Observations
i. Problem of confidence
How the government decides to act in each of the abovementioned roles has an impact on household
and business behaviour. The theory is that by not raising taxes and by spending more, the government
could stimulate consumption; or that by decreasing taxes and paying out more on transfer payments,
the government is leaving more money in people’s pockets, which could stimulate consumption; or that
by investing in capital projects, the government could stimulate private-sector investment. The reality
is much more complex. Fiscal policy is often a crude tool for economic stimulation.
First, the time when the desired stimulus is felt may be hard to control. Second, it is not easy to put
together a stimulus package that is skilfully formulated and implemented. Third, predicting human
behaviour is no easy task. For example, private-sector investment may be reduced if government
increases spending in a certain area (the “crowding-out” effect). Fourth, in the case of Hong Kong,
even when the government goes on a spending spree, but fails to get its overall policy agenda right,
the public and businesses do not feel confident and are reluctant to spend.
How should the government use its vast resources? Beyond paying salaries and buying consumable
products, what types of projects should the HKSAR Government invest taxpayers’ money in? Are there
more optimal ways for the government to buy services, such as welfare and healthcare services? And,
how do the government’s decisions in these areas impact the economy as a whole? These questions
are not easy to answer. But the challenge for every government is to articulate its philosophy clearly,
question and test assumptions, and do as much research as it can before taking initiatives that have
wide implications for society. The loss of confidence in Hong Kong has much to do with the failure of
articulation on the part of the Administration.
ii. Setting the right regulatory and competitive environment
It needs to be noted that the government controls many resources (and therefore benefits) that are not
allocated by market means. These include the granting of development rights, licences, schemes of
control, tenders, etc. The allocation process may be based on fixed and well-prescribed rules or the
rules may be perceived to be flexible. The government’s way of allocating such resources is
inconsistent since it takes a sector-by-sector approach. There is an urgent need to ensure that the
regulatory environment promotes fair competition in an economy that fosters equitable allocation of the
benefits of economic growth within society. It is not for this Report to go into more depth, but only to
state that there is a need to take a comprehensive look at how Hong Kong can promote greater
competitiveness internally — a quest that will also ensure that Hong Kong has industries that are well
equipped to compete globally.61
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Civic Exchange’s competition project seeks to articulate how Hong Kong may proceed with
regulatory reform and promote domestic competition. A series of 4 seminars were held in February
2003 and a set of 4 publications are to be published – see www.civic-exchange.org
under publications.
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The Financial Secretary needs to ensure that the 2003-2004 Budget can help to restore public
confidence in the HKSAR Government’s management of public finance. There are many issues to
consider, some of which are being discussed in Chapters 1 and 3 of this Report. This Chapter attempts
to address the issue of Hong Kong’s linked exchange rate mechanism and argues that it is too
simplistic to think about “de-linking” as a solution for Hong Kong’s economic woes.
2.1

Strong external sector

It has already been noted in Chapter 1 that a key policy failure of the First Term of Office of the Tung
Administration (1997-2002) was the housing policy advocated in 1997-98 based on the belief that
cheap and plentiful housing would make Hong Kong more economically competitive. With a stagnant
housing market, lower property prices, a record-high fiscal deficit, and low public confidence, everyone
seems to be worse off. The interesting phenomenon in Hong Kong today is that even with improving
GDP growth, almost entirely led by re-exports from Hong Kong businesses in the Pearl River Delta and
the trade service exports to these facilities, it has not had much positive impact on the domestic
economy in the form of investment and consumption.62 Put another way, Hong Kong’s external
strength will not improve the government’s fiscal standing if domestic demand remains a drag.

2.2

The Peg controversy

Hong Kong’s linked exchange rate mechanism – the peg – comes in for regular bashing as a cause of
deflation over the last 50 months. The issue of “de-linking” comes up from time to time.63
With a linked exchange rate system, when Hong Kong’s regional neighbours devalued their currencies
during the Asian financial crisis, Hong Kong could not adjust the external price for the Hong Kong
Dollar and therefore domestic prices adjusted instead. The known consequence was that the
adjustment would affect asset prices. This adjustment process has been taking place and has caused
considerable pain as a result.
It is impractical now to argue whether Hong Kong should have devalued in 1997-98 to avoid deflation.
Clearly the time has passed. The questions today are whether the adjustment process has reached or
is close to equilibrium; and whether de-linking now is the best medicine to apply to “revive” the
economy and “save” Hong Kong’s fiscal problems. On the issue of the adjustment process, a number
of studies indicate that it is now close to equilibrium.64 We will not discuss whether these studies are
right or wrong since this is not the purpose of the Report. For the purposes of this Report, we therefore
focus on the second question.
Will de-linking “revive” the poor state of the Hong Kong domestic economy? It appears not because
there are other factors at play that complicate the issue.

62 In 2001, the Hong Kong Trade Development Council estimated that Hong Kong’s offshore trade is
as large if not larger than re-exports. That would put offshore exports in the region of US$180US$200 billion per year. Thus, on an assumed profit margin of 10%-15%, that would mean Hong
Kong businesses earn US$20-US$30 billion per year from offshore activities. See Hong Kong’s
Trade and Trade Supporting Services: New Developments and Prospects, HKTDC, January 2002,
page 12.
63 Why the peg should go, Deutsche Bank, February 2003, is the latest in calling for de-pegging.
64 What might be a proper valuation of the Hong Kong Dollar is complicated. The starting point may
be taken to be September 1983 when the link was established. It needs to be assumed that at that
time, the rate of US$1:HK$7.8 was fair value although it is hard to say how scientific that was on the
day. In September 2002, the CLSA estimated that there was a further 10% left in the readjustment
process and that the process would be completed within 2003, The Hong Kong World-city: Last leg
down, CLSA Emerging Markets, 26 September 2002.
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i. Effects of a weak US Dollar
The often-touted view is that a strong US Dollar makes Hong Kong product and services less
competitive as against those of other economies, if there are no productivity gains. A weak US Dollar
makes Hong Kong products and services more competitive. Right now, the US Dollar is relatively weak
against other major currencies, and there is a general view is that this is good for Hong Kong. It should
also be noted that Hong Kong’s external sector, that is those companies in the manufacturing, export
and trade sectors, products and services are already priced in US Dollars or another major currency.
The issue under discussion is not the external sector but the domestic sector in Hong Kong.
Therefore, it should not be forgotten that a weaker US Dollar is only good for Hong Kong if the following
conditions are also satisfied:
•

The weaker US Dollar is not the result of a weakening US economy and reduced
attraction in US Dollar assets;

•

The weaker US Dollar is not the result of lack of growth elsewhere in the world and
investors’ extreme risk aversion (where investors prefers to hold “ultra save” currencies,
such as the Swiss Franc).

•

The weaker US Dollar is the more dominant factor in the equation rather than real interest
rate affecting the Hong Kong economy.

The signs for the strength of the US economy remain unclear especially with a possible war with Iraq
hanging in the air. With the prospects of US economic growth being unclear and the lack of clarity on
where global growth would come from in near term, the greenback tumbled in early 2003. In Hong
Kong, real interest rates are still high today at about 6%, which explains why borrowing is weak and
there is little private sector investment.65

ii. Public confidence in the peg
The other thing to note about Hong Kong today is its strong liquidity position. In other words, there is
plenty of money in the local banks.66 Strong liquidity is an implicit expression of confidence that
depositors have in the Hong Kong Dollar otherwise they would not be holding the currency. Confidence
in the Hong Kong Dollar cannot necessarily be equated with public confidence in either the HKSAR
Government’s competence or the state of Hong Kong’s public finance. It means that depositors are
confident that the linked exchange rate will stay but long-term Hong Kong Dollar interest rates may
surge on the back of worsening fiscal outlook of the HKSAR Government.67 It may also be interpreted
that the message coming from the Hong Kong public is that they prefer the peg to stay. Furthermore,
strong liquidity alone is not sufficient for economic revival. There will need to be improvements in the
real interest rates (and not a weak US Dollar exchange rate) to get things moving again in terms of
investments. Having said that, there are signs that real interest rates are improving.68 A safe view is
that when things begin to turn around in Hong Kong, there is plenty of money to fuel the upswing.
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Real interest rate for the HK$ is the difference between CPI and 3-months interbank rates.
Liquidity conditions are at the most favourable level since 1998.
67 If we use the spreads between Hong Kong Exchange Fund notes and the comparable US
Treasury bonds to denote the relatively creditworthiness between the two governments, then further
worsen of Hong Kong’s fiscal outlook would widen such spread, resulting in higher financing costs
for both the HKSAR Government and local firms, even if the government does not borrow for its
fiscal spending.
68 A reasonable assumption is that Hong Kong real interest rates will stabilise at below negative 4%
this year and the US interest rates remain on hold in the medium term (as per the US Federal
Reserve Board chairman Alan Greenspan’s semi-annual monetary policy report to the US Congress
Before the Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs, US Senate, 11 February 2003).
66
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2.3

Why the peg should stay

The real issue for the peg to stay at least for the foreseeable future is one of confidence. To break the
linked exchange rate system in favour of a floating exchange rate system requires the HKSAR to first
set-up a central bank that would exercise monetary policy – that is, using interest rates or control of
money supply to influence the economy. There are many factors for the HKSAR Government to
consider in considering moving away from the current system that extends beyond any possibly shortterm gains, including how it would be perceived locally, internationally as well as by the Central
People’s government; how the switch would be managed; how the new system would be structured;
and who would be the key officers managing the new central bank. To manage this whole exercise
requires great political judgement and skills on the part of the HKSAR Government. So far, the
government has still to prove to the public and the financial markets that it has experience to pull major
policies off without glitches.
It should also be noted that re-pegging is not really an option for two reasons. Firstly, it is not easy to
re-peg. The institutional framework in place today is set-up for the Hong Kong Monetary Authority to
buy unlimited amounts of Hong Kong Dollars from licensed banks at a fixed rate.69 Secondly, repegging could well invite speculation over further re-pegging because any attempt to change the
existing institutional set-up would be viewed by the market as weakened resolve to depend the peg,
which could lead to a confidence crisis in the Hong Kong Dollar.

69

According to an undertaking issued by the HKMA on 14 September 1998 and further strengthened
in 2000, the HKMA is obligated to buy Hong Kong Dollar from licensed banks at the fixed exchange
rate of US$1:HK$7.8.
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One of the most important things to realise about the popular coverage of the Budget and the deficit
is that there are at least three versions of what the deficit actually is.

3.1

Three versions of the “deficit”

The version that is most normally cited in the press is the “headline” number, which includes all
revenue, both capital and recurrent, from whatever source and then takes away all expenditure, both
capital and recurrent, incurred in the year. In the year ended March 2002 this was reported at HK$63.3
billion, although the Chief Executive estimated in January 2003 that it was some HK$70 billion.70
The second version, more relevant from a fiscal point of view, looks specifically at the operating
account. Commonly referred to as the recurrent or operating deficit, this is also a deficit. It is the “real”
deficit, and it is the number that actually needs to be addressed. To ignore it means that there is an
inevitable annual drain on resources. The gap, if left unattended, would require the HKSAR
Government to borrow to pay salaries, which would incur interest costs that would further widen the
deficit. For the 2001-2002 Hong Kong Budget, this number was, on a recurrent basis, about HK$45
billion.
In public, the administration tends to use the higher “scare” number, while in presentations to
legislators it focuses narrowly, and quite rightly, on the deficit in the operating account. The HK$25
billion difference in the two numbers arises because the recurrent deficit omits the Capital Works
Reserve Fund (CWRF), the income of which is mainly land revenue used to fund capital projects. The
recurrent deficit ignores therefore long-term capital expenditure that is withdrawn from the CWRF
annually to the reserve accounts to fund capital expenditure on projects, such as water drainage and
roads.
Thus, in years when land revenue is low, the deficit on the CWRF will be large, which is why the
headline number this year is startling. When land income soars, the surplus will be similarly large. The
swings in these “overall” Budget numbers should, essentially, be ignored over the long term.
The funding of these capital projects is derived from a store of development rights that can be realised
from the market now, or in the future. The main point here is that it is irrelevant when the income from
the development rights is realised, and is then accounted for, or when the capital sums for projects are
set aside. For all practical purposes, any annual mismatch in income and transfers is not structural. It
is irrelevant to the Budget, as long as the value of the assets that are sold reflects the overall long-term
economic activity within Hong Kong. Property values, and, even more, development rights, are highly
cyclical and surpluses in good times will offset shortfalls in leaner periods.
From time to time, some commentators appear to urge the Administration to issue fixed income
securities to finance the “deficit”. They are probably urging the use of debt to fund annual shortfalls in
the CWRF. The Administration dismissal of such calls is, in our view, correct if the dismissal relates to
proposals that advocate the use of debt to “patch up” the recurrent deficit. However, outright dismissal
of all calls for the issuance of debt, for any purpose whatsoever, even for use in the funding of capital
projects, is, as we will highlight later, misguided.71

70

Chief Executive, speech at the joint chambers of commerce luncheon, 10 January 2003.
To our knowledge, governments that have based their political economy on the Anglo-Saxon
model that have the confidence of the financial markets have budgetary guidelines that restrict the
use of debt financing to capital projects only.
71
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The third version of the deficit is not even currently available in the public domain. It is based on accrual
accounting, the standard accounting convention that private corporations use, and which many
governments around the world have now adopted. This method helps to generate more clarity than
the others, in our opinion, when it comes to a sensible discussion of the fiscal state of the HKSAR and
possible ways forward. This number for the 2001-2002 Budget can be estimated at about HK$38.5
billion, according to our calculation, as opposed to the reporting total deficit for that year (the
comparable “headline” number, based on cash accounting) of HK$63.3 billion. However, the HK$38.5
billion number is overstated on an accruals basis as we have excluded, for a number of reasons,
income from the profit on the sale of Home Ownership Scheme (HOS) flats. The number is derived
from our attempt to draw up an estimate of what the Budget finances will look like under the normal
accruals convention of accounting. Where possible, we have also attempted to comply with the
proposed changes to the government accounts, which are summarised in Chapter 4. A summary of
income and expenditure for the year 2001-2002 which compares cash and accrual based presentation
can be presented as shown in Figure 8.
3.2

Estimates on an accrual basis

3.2.1 The accrual balance sheet
For the first time this autumn, the HKSAR Government is set to issue a proper balance sheet showing
most of its assets (further details of what will be included in this balance sheet can be seen in Chapter
4). The public will then have access to income and expenditure accounts that would be much more
familiar to anyone with even limited accounting exposure than would the current cash-reporting
methodology. What we are attempting to do in this Report is to give some indication of what the major
items of annual expenditure would, be as well as to provide a summary of the balance sheet showing
government-owned assets and major liabilities.
However, in making our estimates, we worked with a number of constraints. We obviously do not have
access to the detailed internal government schedules that are needed to prepare truly accurate
financial statements. Also, in some instances, we have been unable to adjust for some minor
accounting and presentation changes that will have to take place to make the transition from the cash
to the accruals accounts.72 With these caveats, we have prepared an approximation of what the
accounts for the financial year 2001-2002 would have looked like if accrual accounting were already
adopted. A statement of assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2002, which compares cash and accrualbased presentations, can be presented as shown in Figure 7. Further details of the adjustments made
to the cash-based statement of assets and liabilities are also included in Appendix A.
There are a number of issues to remark upon as the accrual-based balance sheet shows a much larger
proportion of government assets (although not all) than has been the case previously. The fiscal
reserves, which currently stand at around HK$300 billion, and largely consist of money previously held
in the Land Fund prior to 1997, vastly understate the value of government assets. Some gains in asset
value should be realised as they have a market value and generate near commercial rates of return.
The fiscal reserves are the cash assets of the HKSAR Government that are not required for the linked
exchange rate mechanism, which are held by the Exchange Fund.

72

We have followed the guidelines in paragraphs 5.4 and 5.5 of the publicly available government
consultation paper “ Review of Government Financial Reporting”, June 2002. Our exercise has been
undertaken by two professional accountants, who based their work on the detailed cash accounts that
are produced every year some six months after the end of the financial year to which they apply.
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Figure 7: Statement of Assets and Liabilities as at 31 March 2002

Notes:
(a)

Fixed assets and construction in progress - Under accrual accounting, the balance sheet
shows fixed assets at HK$289.0 billion, plus construction in progress of HK$90.4 billion. These
figures, totalling HK$379.4 billion are the summation of all the transfers from the CWRF since
the 1984-1985 fiscal year (further details of this calculation can be found in Appendix C). Upon
transfer of construction in progress to the fixed-asset account (which we assumed was on a
three-year time-frame), we have then levied an annual depreciation charge, based on a 50-year
life span, against the value of the assets. As at 31 March 2002 we have estimated the total
accumulated depreciation to be some HK$30.8 billion.
We note, however, that our treatment for capitalising and depreciating fixed assets varies from
that proposed by the Task Force in the “Review of Government Financial Reporting Policy”73,
which is further outlined in Chapter 4, as the Task Force recommends capitalising only assets
with a depreciable value of greater than HK$1 million for assets purchased before 2002-2003,
and greater than HK$100,000 for assets purchased after 2002-2003. We also note that the Task
Force recommended that the government not capitalise infrastructure assets that do not
generate charges from consumers, such as roads, drainage etc.

(b)

73
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Capital Investment Fund assets - The HKSAR Government accrual-based balance sheet
would include assets such as its shareholdings in the railway companies, the airport and the
seed capital in Hong Kong Disneyland. These assets, totalling some HK$105.7 billion as at 31
March 2002, were previously held in the Capital Investment Fund (CIF), which was never
incorporated into the consolidated cash accounts because capital expenditure has always been

“Review of Government Financial Reporting Policy”, accessed at:
http://www.info.gov.hk/fstb/tb/cdr/report/e-chapter1-6.pdf
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expensed in the year in which it was incurred. The other major asset of the CIF has been the
capital put into the Housing Authority74. This alone, valued at nearly HK$350 billion, is more than
the current fiscal cash reserves of the HKSAR75.
(c)

MTRC and Kowloon Canton Railway Corporation (KCRC) Reserves – The proposed accrual
accounting treatment of investments in government-owned corporations includes the cost of
investment as well as the undistributed profits retained in the accounts of these entities. The
HKSAR Government’s share of such profits in the MTRC and Kowloon Canton Railway
Corporation (KCRC) totalled some HK$29.7 billion as at 31 March 2002.

(d)

Loan Fund Assets – All loans and investments made under the Loan Fund are included as
assets in the accrual-based accounts. Previously, these assets were included in the balance
sheet of the Loan Fund but excluded from the overall consolidated HKSAR Government cashbased accounts. The value of the Loan Fund’s loans and investments, which are subject to
periodic valuation review, was HK$30.0 billion as at 31 March 2002.

(e)

Civil Service Pension Liability - On the liability side we have included the HK$250 billion
capital value of the civil service pension scheme76. We note, however that this liability is subject
to annual changes in value and to the normal actuarial assumptions on investment return,
changes in wage growth rates and inflation. Incremental changes can produce substantial yearon-year swings to the capital liability that are theoretically required to be set aside to fund the
entire liability over the life of the scheme. The recognition of this liability actually means that, if
it were to be truly prudent, the Administration should transfer this sum into a separate account
from its cash reserves.
In a private company the pension fund is held in a separate account that would be distinct from
the assets and would not appear in the balance sheet. Our treatment has no impact on the
overall reserve position that we are showing, HK$998 billion as at the end of March 2002. But
the adoption of a separate pension fund approach we would have reduced the overall reserves
by HK$250 billion.

3.2.2 Other adjustments which could be made to the statement of assets and liabilities
i. HKSAR Government’s housing assets
We have not included the assets of the Housing Authority, or any other assets for that matter, at their
estimated current market value. Furthermore, in the case of the Housing Authority it would appear the
value that could be realised from the market for its assets that generate attractive cash income, such
as 100,000 car parks and 9,000 retail units, could be substantial. The value of some of its urban sites,
if sold for private sector re-development, is also substantial. Five identified major urban renewal sites
could generate as much as HK$30 billion in sales revenue at auction.77 In addition, there are assets
that have real value but not a ready open market value, for example, 650,000 public-rental flats and
the deferred premium due on 300,000 HOS flats, that could be imaginatively realised through
non-cash means.

74

As represented by “other investments” in The CIF, HKSAR Accounts 2001-2002.
The HKSAR government’s investment in the Hong Kong Housing Authority is included as “Other
Capital Investments” in the Statement of Investments of the CIF as at 31 March 2002.
76 The civil service pension liability of HK$250 billion was estimated in LegCo Paper CB(1)
1900/99-01 Minutes of a meeting of the Panel of Financial Affairs held on 7 May 2001.
77 Based on market estimates of the value of the North Point site, applied to four other identified
sites in the restructuring proposal, Ho Man Tin, Ngau Tau Kok, Cheung Sha Wan and Shek Kip Mei.
(Paper HA 19/2002 March )
75
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3.2.3 Accrual accounting and the revenue and expenditure account
On the income and expenditure account there are also some interesting changes because of the
adoption of the accrual basis of accounting, which are summarised in Figure 8. Further details of the
adjustments made to the cash-based summary of revenue and expenditure is also included in
Appendix B.
Figure 8: Statement of Revenue and Expenditure Summary for the year 2001-2002

Notes:
(a)
Restatement of Capital Revenue and Expenses - First of all, as we have eliminated the
CWRF, land revenue from all sources becomes ordinary and recurrent. For the year 2001-2002,
some HK$10.5 billion of CWRF revenue is reclassified as recurrent income in the General
Revenue Account.

30

(b)

Depreciation of Fixed Assets - In addition, all expenditure of a capital nature is taken out of
the expenditure side of the CWRF account and is replaced by a depreciation charge levied
annually against the fixed asset base that has been built up over the years. Thus, we have
reduced the expenditure in 2001-2002 by HK$30.3 billion from the normal cash accounting
conventions being currently used, but we have also charged depreciation against income of
HK$5.5 billion78.

(c)

Other Funds - Other Funds revenue and expenses include items from government Funds such
as the CIF, the Civil Service Pension Reserve Fund and the Loan Fund. For the purposes of our
analysis, we have not made any adjustments under the accrual-based presentation, although
we note that these amounts may include capital natured revenues and expenses that may need
to be re-classified to assets and liabilities.

78

Further details of the estimated depreciation charge can be found in Appendix C.
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3.2.4 Other adjustments that could be made to the revenue and expenditure account
i. Civil service pension assets income and expenses
Under the cash-based accounting system, the full investment income arising from the holding of civil
service pension reserves are taken as income in the accounts. The correct accounting treatment is
actually to reduce the investment income by the proportion of the reserves that are being held to fund
the pension liability, simultaneously reducing the pension expenditure that is charged as expenditure
every year by a similar amount. This has no impact upon the overall deficit figure Hong Kong shows
because we expect the income and expenditure to be reduced by the same amount.
ii. Profits from Home Ownership Scheme flats
We have also omitted the profit that accrues from the sale of HOS flats, which has formerly only been
shown in the accounts of the Housing Authority and not the government accounts. This sum has been
substantial in some recent years, running at well over HK$10 billion. We have not treated this item in
accordance with the proposed government guidelines for a number of reasons, primarily because this
item will not be appearing in the future, given the cessation of HOS sales. Its inclusion would
consequently unfairly flatter the income side of the 2001-2002 Budget. Moreover, it would seem to be
unfair to include the revenue from these projects when this revenue was being used as a source of
funding for the Housing Authority. Having said that, we do not know how the Housing Authority is going
to be funded going forward. Maybe it will appear in future also as an additional expense.
iii. Further capital payments from the Loan Fund
Loan payments of a capital nature totalling some HK$7.3 billion in 2001-2002 may also be reclassified
to the balance sheet under accrual principals. If one were then to deduct the transfer out to Loan Fund,
of HK$7.3 billion, from recurrent expenditure, we would then have a figure for recurrent expenditure for
the 2001-2002 fiscal year of some HK$200 billion. Thus, on the accruals basis of accounting, it can
legitimately be claimed that the real Budget deficit for 2001-2002 was of the order of HK$31 billion.
3.3

New insights

The sole purpose of preparing these accrual accounts has been to try to derive more insight into the
overall financial position of the HKSAR. Standing back from the niceties of the accounting mechanisms
that we have used, the key to whether this approach has any real value, or whether the publication of
the results of accruals accounts is just another administrative exercise, has to be addressed at the
more thematic level. There are some critical issues – and exciting policy choices – that readily emerge
from this way of looking at the numbers.
3.3.1 How to fund capital works?
The CWRF was established some two decades ago. By law, land revenue is taken as being capital in
nature. It has to be dedicated to the CWRF to fund capital works. Yet, there is no reason Hong Kong
should be paying cash for projects that have multi-decade life spans. Whilst the colonial administration
adopted this ridiculously conservative approach (probably to avoid the need to incur debt), it is an
entirely inappropriate approach from a public policy point of view.
From a public policy perspective, there are two key questions that arise from paying cash for capital
projects: First, how is wealth transferred between different users of infrastructure? And, second, how
is wealth transferred from one generation to the next? The first case can be illustrated by comparing
a highway, which the government pays for in cash, with a rail line or the airport, where the MTRC and
the Airport Authority produce balance sheets to show how they recover a return on capital79. In effect,
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The MTRC was established in 1975 as a government wholly owned statutory corporation to
operate the mass transit railway system. The government sold a portion of the shares in an IPO in
October 2000. The Airport Authority is a statutory body that operates and maintains the Hong Kong
International airport. The Authority is a wholly owned subsidiary of the HKSAR Government.
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what has happened is that the HKSAR Government subsidises road users totally, but not the other
users. There is also inter-generational wealth transfer. For example, the government is investing
billions in a sewage treatment scheme, the Harbour Area Treatment Scheme (HATS),80 from land
revenue and not from general revenue. What this means is that the capital items have been paid for
by the current population of Hong Kong, for the benefit of unborn people who will likely get the use of
the capital assets free of charge, in say, 20 years time.
The public-policy question revolves around the financing of capital works and why are we paying cash.
Is this fair and optimal in terms of other policy goals, most notably creating a sustainable development
policy?81 For a government that purports to advocate sustainable development, it is inconceivable that
we can continue to expense entire chunks of capital expenditure, leaving no means to assess the
factors of production that we are consuming. It needs to be noted that long-term projects that are paid
for now in cash have no accounting cost for future generations of users. Thus, there is an in-built bias
to undercharge for the provision of services and the use of such infrastructure, as there is no capital
charge shown in accounts of the HKSAR. These questions do not appear to have been raised or
properly addressed by decision-makers.
3.3.2 How should land revenue be treated?
In addition, the treatment of land revenue via the CWRF, and the acceptance that land revenue is
capital, is highly contentious. First of all, virtually all land in Hong Kong is leased, usually on a longterm basis, from the HKSAR Government. All land reverts to the HKSAR Government, or the
government gets a land rent on an annual basis as a proxy for a premium payment at the point a lease
expires. In other words, the HKSAR Government eventually gets interest on the land it sold last year,
and the year before, and so on, at a future date.
The HKSAR Government also is the only body empowered to give a leaseholder planning permission.
Therefore, it is the only authority with the power to generate additional development rights. These
rights are taxed via the lease-modification-payment mechanism, again giving a recurrent source of
income when the market is viewed in its entirety.
Thus, unless the economy collapses, it is legitimate to argue that land revenue, although uncertain in
quantity from year to year, is recurrent in nature. Therefore, the accruals approach to accounting is in
our opinion a more appropriate way through which to judge the use of resources. It gives a truer
picture of the financial situation of the HKSAR Government then the current cash accounts.
By including revenue from land sales above the line and abolishing the CWRF, as accruals accounting
insists that we do, we have added some HK$10 billion to recurrent revenue, taking our revenue, in a
fairly slow economy, to HK$167 billion. However, land revenue was a fairly modest HK$9 billion in
2001-2002 and, similarly, investment income was only HK$11billion in the same period. Both numbers
could be expected to be higher when the economy improves.
3.3.3 The “real” budget deficit
Taking the accrual-based budget deficit of HK$38.5 billion and deducting the transfer out to Loan Fund
of HK$7 billion (see 3.2.4 iii); from recurrent expenditure, we actually have a figure for recurrent
expenditure for 2001-2002 that comes in at about HK$200 billion. Thus, on the accruals basis of
accounting, it can legitimately be claimed that the real budget deficit for fiscal 2002 was of the order of
HK$31 billion.
The Administration wishes to cut government expenditure from its earlier projections through to 20062007 by HK$20 billion per year, and hit HK$200 billion for recurrent expenditure in four years. The
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The HATS is a “territory-wide sewerage rehabilitation and improvement scheme”. Phase I,
currently being completed is aimed at improving the quality at Victoria Harbour.
81 Since April 2001, the government has had a Sustainable Development Unit within the
Administrative Wing of the Office of the Chief Secretary with the mission to “facilitate the integration
of sustainable development into Government initiatives and programmes and in the community
generally”, www.susdev.gov.hk.
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target is therefore not as demanding as it would seem since the budget deficit is HK$31 billion. if
accounting is done on an accrual basis. It has to be assumed that the bureaucrats in the Treasury are
aware of this, even though many other civil servants may not be. We assume that the Chief Executive
and the Financial Secretary should also be aware of this, and that the fury with which they have set
about slashing recurrent expenditure is done quite deliberately. They should be questioned closely to
ensure that important services are not cut and headcount reduction is not overdone. However, if they
are in fact less aware than they should be of Hong Kong’s financial circumstances, that presents
another order of concern.
3.3.4 The strength of the balance sheet
We have only so far looked at the income and expenditure side of the impact of the adoption of
accruals accounting. The more interesting aspect, however, is seen in the balance sheet. By including,
some, but certainly not all, of the assets of the HKSAR Government, we can now get an indication of
how sound our public finances are. The government has nearly HK$1,000 billion (HK$ 1 trillion) in
assets sitting outside of the Exchange Fund.
Of this total, some HK$150 billion is fairly liquid. This is in the form of cash and investment in
companies controlled via equity ownership, such as the MTRC, the KCRC, and the Airport Authority,
which could be offered to the market if that were in the public interest. There are sufficient assets to
fully fund the HK$250 billion of pension liabilities. The additional HK$626 billion of net assets that have
now appeared in the new accrual-based balance sheet are largely represented by the Housing
Authority’s assets and the fixed assets built up over the period by expenditure from the CWRF since
1985. Some fixed assets included here generate a cash income and could be sold while some do not.
On balance, we believe that the HKSAR Government should stop funding capital expenditure through
the use of cash, as it currently does, and instead utilise its balance sheet to fund capital works. Assets
that are sold off to the market, whether they be car parks in public housing or shares in the railway
companies or the Airport Authority, would generate the seed capital to provide the equity portion of
capital works projects, with long-dated debt being used to fund the balance. With such a strong
balance sheet, the government can borrow cheaply. In addition, the availability of long-dated
government debt in the market would enhance the returns to savers in a very low interest rate
environment. The regular income would in turn support consumer spending and help the economy.
Public debt in this way has a positive economic influence.
Furthermore, the current attitude towards capital expenditure means that the government gets into the
business of operating and maintaining the assets it builds. Hong Kong’s overall approach to this issue
is confused and needs clarification. The airport is operated by a corporation on prudent financial
principles, as are the two rail companies. Independent private companies also operate the electricity,
telephone and gas grids. Expanding such private sector delivery schemes to fund, build and operate
assets that are going to charge commercial rates for their use is sensible. The private sector is
generally more efficient than the public sector. The pricing of capital that this approach encourages
also addresses the issues of cross-sector and inter-generation pricing that we mentioned earlier. Hong
Kong has had positive experiences with privatisation in many areas, and there is no reason why roads,
hospitals, schools and water should not follow.
3.3.5 Proceeds of sale of government assets
There would be at least one other key benefit of adopting accrual accounting and depreciating capital
expenditure over the useful life of the asset purchased rather than expensing it. The current accounting
system treats the proceeds from the sale of assets, such as the sale of shares in the MTRC, as pure
“profit”, and such revenue goes completely into the revenue account. Thus, for example, the current
large Budget deficit is partially blamed on a postponement of the sale of MTRC shares because of bad
timing. Under accrual accounting, the sale of assets to a third party has no impact on the revenue and
expenditure account unless it generates a profit or a loss from the value it was booked at. Thus the
ability to patch over short-term problems with extraneous items is much reduced, and a much clearer
picture of the financial state of the Administration can be seen by all stakeholders. Indeed, given the
apparent unfamiliarity of many commentators with our system of public accounting, the adoption of
accruals accounting would help reduce some of the more hysterical commentary.
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3.4

Benefits of accrual accounting

While the benefits and problems with accrual accounting are discussed further in Chapter 4, it is
worthwhile to note a few key benefits of adopting accrual accounting given our discussions above:
3.4.1 Capital expenditure would have no budgetary impact
Under accruals accounting, the impact of capital expenditure on the Budget is essentially ignored. This
is beneficial in that each project can be looked at in terms of its viability and ability to generate revenue.
Then after this filtering process, it can then be decided whether the project should be both funded by
equity and retained by the government with full or partial government subsidy, or whether full operating
and capital-cost recovery should be pursued. Where the government takes the view that there should
be full capital and operating cost recovery, then the project should really be taken on by the private
sector. This is a much more rational approach for the allocation of capital to projects and should also
encourage greater efficiency.
3.4.2 Flaws and mismatches are harder to hide
Accrual accounting allows for much less flexibility in hiding structural flaws and mismatches between
revenue and expenditure on a year-to-year basis. It highlights specific issues such as user pays and
the full cost of services much more clearly than the current cash-based accounting system does.
3.4.3 Stakeholders become better informed.
If the purpose of the Budget is to create discussion over policy matters and the options that society
has, then the current cash accounting system actually does the opposite. The cash approach may
have been politically expedient in previous times, but it is inexcusable now. The current Budget debate
often lacks any real common ground as to what the basic numbers that need to be addressed even
are. Thus, if the Administration were at least to produce its Budget proposals in both accrual and cash
forms, the debate would be enhanced.
3.5

The politics of the recurrent deficit

The accounts that we have prepared probably indicate that we need some HK$20 billion, disregarding
cost savings, to cover the recurrent deficit. How could this be achieved? It is not unreasonable to
expect that HK$10 billion could come from a pick-up in domestic nominal prices over time. How the
other HK$10 billion can be raised involves hard political choice. For example, to what extent would it
be possible to means-test households that derive benefits from under-priced services to assess
whether they could pay more?
While the public may question the level of civil service salaries and push for greater efficiencies within
government expenditure, there is still an overall assumption that the government will provide a level of
services equivalent to that of a progressive developed country. The intricacies of policy-related
spending adjustments is nevertheless an issue for the public to debate and the preparation of expense
and costing information by policy area, which should be included in the government’s accrual accounts
from 2002-2003, should assist this debate. However, for the purposes of this analysis, we have not
conducted a review of the nature and extent of government spending by policy area.
3.6

The “real” problem with Hong Kong’s public finance

Beyond cash or accrual accounting, the real problem with Hong Kong public finance is that there are
fundamental flaws in how revenue is raised and how money is spent. Hong Kong’s revenue base is
too reliant on income from assets (land revenue, fixed-income investments and stamp-duty income)
that generate high nominal returns in time of inflation but low returns when the economy is weak, such
as today. Revenue that is so heavily skewed to asset-price inflation and strong investment returns also
means that revenue gains are not necessarily linked to the growth in the economy. Given that the
linked exchange mechanism means that Hong Kong has no control over the level of its domestic
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inflation rate (see Chapter 2), the existing income and expenditure structure is precarious.
The result of all these factors is that Hong Kong has an institutional preference for inflation and
ballooning asset markets because that’s when Budget surpluses are produced. These surpluses then
give rise to calls for greater recurrent expenditure, such as better education and welfare services. This
was the mistake the First Term Tung Administration made in the 1997 Policy Address. In Chapter 1,
we pointed out that there was a conscious decision to spend but no measures were introduced to
create more recurrent income.82
When domestic asset-market activities slowed after 1997, it was inevitable that the government’s
Budget deficit would rise. Yet, it would not be possible to call for revenue-raising measures at a down
point in the economic cycle. Furthermore, as the domestic economy is taking longer to recover than
policy-makers originally expected, the size of the deficit quickly worsened.
In short, any fiscal regime that can swing from generating surpluses of 6% of GDP to deficits of the
same magnitude within a short period of time, as has happened in Hong Kong in five years, needs to
be drastically overhauled.

82

Policy Address, 8 October 1997, paragraph 153.
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4.1

Existing financial reporting

4.1.1 HKSAR Government accounts
For control and funding purposes the government’s financial activities are undertaken through a
General Revenue Account (GRA) and a variety of Funds (herein referred as the “Government
Accounts”). The GRA acts as the central funding device with resources transferred as necessary to
nominated Funds established to finance specific activities. Each Fund, established under the Public
Finance Ordinance, has its own purpose and is accounted for as an entity in its own right. A statement
of Assets and Liabilities and a Statement of Receipts and Payments is prepared and audited for the
GRA and each Fund listed below, excluding the Lotteries Fund.
The GRA’s income is derived through the collection of taxes, rates and duties, property and investment
income, utilities, fees and charges and appropriations from any Funds. A breakdown of the GRA and
Total Government Revenues, and the GRA and Total Public Expenditure for the periods 1997-1998 to
2002-2003 is included in Appendices D and E, while summaries of the same for the years 1999-2000
to 2002-2003 are included in Figures 9 and 10.

Figure 9: GRA and Total Consolidated Government Revenue Breakdown for the
periods 1999-2000 to 2001-2002 (actual) and 2002-03 (estimate only)83

83
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Figures obtained from Government Accounts accessed at http://www.info.gov.hk/tsy/intrnet/ca.pdf
(for the 2000-01 and 2001-2002 accounts), the hard copy of the “Accounts for the Government for
the year ended 31 March 1999” prepared by the Treasury, and HKSAR Government and the
Government Budget Estimates, accessed at:
http://www.budget.gov.hk/fb/2002/estimates/english/consum_p_e.pdf
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(a) Certain breakdowns are not available for the 2002-2003 estimates as indicated with “n/a”
(b) Internal revenue is made up of property tax, personal assessment bets and sweeps tax, hotel
accommodation tax, air passenger departure tax, cross-harbour tunnel passage tax, stamp duties and
estate duty.
(c) Other Fund revenue is made up of incomes from the Funds (mainly the LoanF and CIF) including
investment income, loan repayments, interest on bank deposits and other miscellaneous revenues.

Figure 10: GRA and Total Consolidated Public Expenditure Breakdown for the years
1999-2000 to 2001-2002 (actual) and 2002-03 (estimate only)84

(a) Certain breakdowns are not available for the 2002-2003 estimates as indicated with “n/a”
(b) Other expenditure is made up of expenses from other Funds (mainly CIF and LoanF) including loan
payments, payments for equity holdings and miscellaneous expenses.

The main Funds85, which are established under Section 29 of the Public Finance Ordinance,
include the:
-

Capital Works Reserve Fund (CWRF) – finances the public works programme, land
acquisitions, capital subventions, major systems and equipment items and computerisation and
the payment of redemption money in respect of land exchange entitlements. Its income is
derived mainly from land premiums and appropriations from the GRA.

84

Ibid.
There are also many other funds created outside Section 29 of the Public Finance Ordinance,
including the Quality Education Fund, Sir David Trench Fund for Recreation, Beat Drugs Fund
Association, etc. These funds are currently not included in the Consolidated Accounts.
85
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-

Capital Investment Fund (CIF) – finances government capital investments such as equity
injections in the Airport Authority, the Kowloon-Canton Railway Corporation and the Mass Transit
Railway Corporation, and capital investments in the Housing Authority. Its income is derived
mainly from appropriations from the GRA and dividends.

-

Civil Service Pension Reserve Fund (CSPRF) - acts as a reserve to meet payment of civil
service pensions in the unlikely event that the government cannot meet such liabilities from the
GRA. Its income is derived mainly from appropriations from the GRA and interest on investment.

-

Disaster Relief Fund (DRF) - finances grants for humanitarian aid in the event of disasters
outside Hong Kong. Its income is derived mainly from appropriations from the GRA and interest
on investment.

-

Innovation and Technology Fund (ITF) - finance projects that contribute to innovation and
technology upgrading in the manufacturing and service industries, as well as those that
contribute to the upgrading and development of the manufacturing and service industries. It
derives income mainly from appropriation from the GRA and investment

-

Land Fund (LandF) - and the receives and holds all of the assets, including all accounts
receivable, net of expenses, transferred from the HKSAR Government Land Fund. Its investment
is managed by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority in accordance with the directions of the
Financial Secretary

-

Loan Fund (LoanF)- finances loan schemes such as housing loans and student loans. Its
income is derived mainly from appropriations from the GRA, loan repayments, and interest
on loans.

-

Lotteries Fund (LotteriesF) - finances welfare services through grants and loans. Its income is
derived mainly from the sharing of the proceeds of the popular Mark Six lotteries.

While individual financial accounts are prepared for the GRA and each of the eight above listed Funds,
a set of Consolidated Accounts is also prepared which include the financial activities as reported in
the GRA and all of the above listed Funds (excluding inter-fund transfers and the transactions and
balances of the LotteriesF86). Further detail of the financial activities included within the Consolidated
Accounts is included in Appendix F.
A number of government units that operate on a quasi-commercial basis prepare accrual-based
accounts. For instance Trading Funds including the Land Registry, Companies Registry, Office of the
Telecommunications Authority, Post Office and the Electrical and Mechanical Services Trading Fund,
prepare accrual accounts as dictated by the Trading Funds Ordinance (cap.430). Furthermore,
although not required statutorily Government Utilities prepare accrual accounts, including the
Government Toll-Tunnels, Lantau Link, Marine Ferry Terminals, Sewerage Services and the Water
Authority. While Utilities net revenues are included in the Consolidated Accounts the Trading Funds are
not included and the assets and liabilities of both are not included in the Consolidated Statement of
Assets and Liabilities.

86
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Transactions and balances of The LotteriesF are excluded from the Consolidated Accounts
because the revenue of that fund is dedicated to social welfare services and cannot be used for
general government purposes.
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Figure 11: Consolidated Statement of Assets and Liabilities
for the periods 1997-98 to 2001-0287

(a) Investments received by the Land Fund at 1 July 1997
(b) Adjustments include provisions for losses of investments in exchange fund (2000-2001) and their
subsequent write-back (2001-2002).

4.1.2 Government annual estimates (i.e. the Budget)
The Government bases its expenditure and revenue budget on a rolling five-year, medium range
forecast of cash expenditure and revenue. As outlined in Article 107 of the Basic Law, the government
“shall follow the principle of keeping expenditure within the limits of revenues in drawing up its budget,
and strive to achieve a fiscal balance, avoid deficits and keep the budget commensurate with the
growth rate of its gross domestic product.”
The Budget deficit is calculated as the difference between consolidated government revenues and
expenditures (see further detailed discussions of the three versions of the "deficit" in Chapter 3). A
summary of the actual net revenue position fo the years 1997-1998 to 2001-2002 and the estimated
net revenue position for 2002-2003 is included in Figure 12.

87

Figures obtained from Government Accounts accessed at http://www.info.gov.hk/tsy/intrnet/ca.pdf
(for the 2000-01 and 2001-2002 accounts) and the hard copy of the “Accounts for the Government
for the year ended 31 March 1999” prepared by the Treasury, HKSAR Government.
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Figure 12: Consolidated Expenditure and Revenue Summary for the periods
1997-1998 to 2001-2002 (actual) and 2002-03 (estimate only)88

*

Consolidated results are made up of GRA and all Funds excluding the Lotteries Fund. It does not
include expenditure by the Trading Funds, the Housing Authority or any organizations, including
any statutory organisations in which the government has only an equity position, such as the
Airport Authority, the MTRC And the KCRC.

#

Including change in net worth of the investments of the Land Fund

^

Excluding transfers between the GRA and the Funds

+

In 1996-1997 Total Government Revenue was HK$208.358 million and Total Public Expenditure
was HK$182.680 million

In the 2000-2001 Budget Speech, the then Financial Secretary launched a review of public finances
resulting from consecutive years of operating deficits and a forecast that these deficits would continue
up to 2002-2003. The Task Force concluded in its report “Review of Public Finances” February 2002,
that “Hong Kong is facing an ongoing and persistent fiscal problem. Some of the economic forces
leading to this situation are believed to be structural in nature, although it is difficult, if not impossible,
to discount the effects of all cyclical factors”.89

4.1.3 Problems with the existing financial reporting and budgeting
The advantages of the existing cash financial reporting and budgeting is that they are simple and are
effective in terms of reporting the sources and uses of cash resources along with the cash reserves
available. The systems are also useful in measuring actual expenditures made compared to those
approved by the legislature. However, there are many criticisms of the existing financial reporting and
budgeting systems including:

88
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Figures were obtained from the HKSAR Government Budget Estimates, accessed at:
http://www.budget.gov.hk/fb/2002/estimates/english/consum_p_e.pdf.
89 Task Force on “Review of Public Finances”, February 2002, page 43, which can be accessed at:
http://www.info.gov.hk/fstb/tb/budget/budget02-03/tfr/english/e_tfr.htm. Further discussion of this
Report and the implications of its findings is discussed in Chapter1.
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•

The Consolidated Accounts do not reflect all of the Government’s activities. As further outlined in
Appendix F, the Consolidated Accounts do not include any funds established outside the Public
Finance Ordinance, the Government’s ownership interest in public owned corporations such as
the Airport Authority, the MTRC and the KCRC, and the assets and investments of statutory
bodies such as Hong Kong Housing Authority and the Hong Kong Monetary Organisation.

•

There is inadequate distinction between capital and revenue expenditure. Although capital
expenditure is recorded separately from revenue expenditure, the capital asset that gives rise to
this expenditure is not recorded at all in the Government Accounts. This means that the capital
expenditure (for say the acquisition of an investment in infrastructure such as a bridge) is written
off in the year that it is paid even though the asset acquired will last many years into the future.
While there are exceptions, for instance where cash is spent on investments or loans (which are
recorded in the CIF or the LoanF), all other forms of capital expenditure disappear from the
Government’s Accounts.

•

Capital expenditure on investments and loans (through the CIF and LoanF) that is recorded
in the Governments Accounts, it is recorded at historical values rather than current
values. Any loss of value of these assets are not reflected in the Government Accounts and given
the rapid changes in asset values this may present an incomplete or misleading picture of the
true financial situation.

•

The non-capitalisation of physical assets such as government infrastructure and land results in
an incomplete set of Government Accounts and a misconception of the size of government
assets and reserves. Similarly, non-recorded liabilities such as the Governments Civil Service
Pension Liability are not recorded and consequently distort net worth.

•

It is difficult to make management decisions on cash-based accounts often resulting in the need
for additional costing exercises to support decisions. This results in duplication of work and
fragmentation of resources. Cash based reporting and management may provide incomplete or
misleading information. For instance, cash based accounts may fail to recognise future costs
associated with current government activities and will not properly align costs with the provision
of goods and services.

•

Departmental expenditure analysis does not include all departmental costs. For instance certain
shared expenses, such General Expenses of the Civil Service ((GRA Head 46) are not allocated
between the relevant using departments and other expenses, such as the payment of rents by
the Government Property Agency are not charged back to the relevant department who occupies
the rented building. Furthermore, notional costs such as accommodation and rental costs for
departments using government owned land are not included as a cost to the relevant department
and depreciation of furniture and equipment is not accounted for.

•

Expenditure analysis by policy area (e.g. education, transport) is not available although allocation
of resources is made on such basis.

•

Government units often rush to spend their budget in cash before the end of the financial year
because there is no mechanism for carrying unused amounts forward. This can lead to
unnecessary and wasteful spending.

4.2

Accrual accounting and budgeting

4.2.1 Cash and accrual accounting systems
Cash and Accrual represent endpoints on a spectrum of possible reporting bases. Traditionally the
private sector has used accrual accounting and the public sector used cash accounting. The two
sectors used different systems because their management and reporting needs were different.
Generally the private sector needed to manage and report financial performance and financial position
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and the public sector needed to manage and report revenue received and expenditure against that
revenue over a specified time period.
During the past ten or so years, a number of governments and other public sector organisations have
moved from cash to accrual accounting. This is largely as a result of concerns about the sustainability
of government activities. The change to an accrual based system is also often in conjunction with the
development of more performance focussed management systems. Accordingly both of these issues
require more comprehensive information than cash accounting and budgeting is able to provide.
Public sector accounts now need to consider overall financial performance and financial position in
order to make better informed decisions on the provision of government services and the overall
direction of government fiscal policy.
A key difference between cash and accrual accounting is one of timing. Cash based accounting
records receipts and outlays when the cash is received or paid, without regard to when the activity
generating the revenue, consuming the resources, or increasing the liability occurs. On the other
hand, accrual based accounting records transactions in the period when the activity generating the
revenue, increasing the liability or consuming the resources occurs, regardless of when the associated
cash is actually paid or received. In this way accrual accounting records the outcome of the
transaction when the economic value is exchanged rather than the cash value. Accrual accounting
also clearly distinguishes between the capital and revenue aspects of income and expenditure as it
links capital expenditure to identified assets and liabilities that are fully recognised and accounted for.
An objective of accrual accounting is to make the true cost of providing a product or service more
transparent as it is far easier to match the resource input with the associated resource output. For
instance pension costs are absorbed at the time the employees are employed and accumulating their
pension rights rather than in years to come when it becomes an unrelated expenditure upon their
retirement. Similarly, the costs of assets acquisition, such as the building of a bridge, are incorporated
into annual operating expenses through a depreciation charge over their useful lives rather than being
shown as a one off payment at the time of construction.
By calculating the ‘real’ cost of service deployment, accrual based accounting provides better financial
information on the efficiency of the government’s resource management. It also allows a more
comprehensive assessment of the economic impact of government activity and the sustainability of
fiscal policy. Once the Government can understand its cost base in providing services it can then begin
to evaluate whether it should continue to provide that service or whether the market could provide the
service at a more competitive cost. In this way, the information provided through accrual accounting
is the first step in the government being able to consider the sustainability of its service deployment
and/ or the downsizing or privatising of assets and/or services.
The key differences between cash and accrual accounting are further summarised in Appendix G.

4.2.2 Hybrid accounting systems
While the above summary embodies the principles in a pure cash versus a pure accrual accounting
system, there are many hybrid accounting systems that utilise certain but not all of the above
principles. For instance a modified cash accounting system may record all revenue and expenses
on a cash basis but may still record assets and liabilities. Similarly a modified accrual accounting
system may lie somewhere between a cash-based and an accrual-based system. For instance during
the 1980’s when the Canadian government was moving towards full a accrual accounting system, it
adopted a modified accrual accounting system, whereby most accrual accounting principles were
utilised except that expenditure on physical assets was accounted for on a cash basis.

4.2.3 Cash and accrual budgeting
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Similar to accrual accounting accrual budgeting focuses on the preparation of reports that show the full
costs or inputs associated with providing output including expenses such as depreciation, provisions
for employee entitlements etc, rather than just those costs which are spent during the period. Most
often, accrual budgeting is not highlighted as an end in itself, but rather, as a means of shifting the
emphasis of the budgetary process away from cash inputs, towards outputs and outcomes, in the hope
that this will result in greater management efficiencies, and hence, better outcomes for governments
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and the communities they service. Accrual budgeting also requires an entity to forecast its overall
financial position and in doing highlights changes in the overall ‘net worth’ of the entity. For instance
it may show where entities are building up liabilities or running down reserves in order to deliver output.
Countries that have implemented accrual budgeting systems, such as Australia and New Zealand,
have generally done so as a part of overall overhauls to the measurement and performance
frameworks of Government departments and agencies. In New Zealand the shift to accrual budgeting
coincided with radical changes in accountability relationships.
Accrual budgeting is often a good way to support reforms that address performance challenges by
improving the alignment of cost to performance. By providing better information on assets and
liabilities and the movements there in, accrual budgeting is also better able to provide information to
assess the sustainability of government activities. The accrual based budgeting system can also be
used to enhance public accountability. In Australia, instead of focussing on what departments do (i.e.
the process) and what inputs (i.e. cash and staff) they use to do it, the new framework looks at how
departments’ performance is assessed or measured and what is in fact being measured. It does this
through specifying outcomes and outputs for each department and then using the accrual based
budgeting and reporting to measure the outcomes. This framework of outcomes and outputs changes
the focus to look at why a department exists, how it is working towards that purpose and whether it is
effective. The objective of the outcomes and outputs framework is to make departmental heads more
accountable by measuring the achievement of delivering the various policy results with which they
have been charged90.
The OECD reports that throughout the world, the budget is the key management document in the
public sector and accountability is based on implementing the budget as approved by the legislature.
If the budget is on a cash basis, that is going to form the basis on which the government works and
financial reporting on a different basis, risks becoming a purely technical accounting exercise91.
However, the OECD also highlights that amid its member countries, there appears to be a much
greater acceptance of accruals for financial reporting than for budgeting purposes. The two reasons
are most cited for this are92:
•

An accrual budget is believed to risk budget discipline. The political decision to spend money
should be matched with when it is reported in the budget. This can only be achieved through a
cash budget. For instance, if major capital projects could be voted on with only commensurate
depreciation expense being reported, there is fear that this would increase expenditures on such
projects as decision makers would effectively disregard the future commitments of the project.

•

The complexity of accrual budgeting inhibits adoption by legislators. The OECD notes that
countries that have adopted accrual budgeting generally have a relatively weak role for the
legislature in the budget process.

4.2.4 Problems with accrual accounting
A number of issues arise when changing to accrual accounts. Governments in general have different
assets to the private sector and by their nature these assets are often hard to value. There are also a
number of implementation issues that arise and in general, the level of accounting expertise is greater

90

For further information on the Australian “ Outcomes and Outputs Framework” see
http://www.finance.gov.au/budgetgroup/Commonwealth_Budget_-_Overview/the_ outcomes_
outputs_framewo.html
91 For further discussion see, OECD Public Management Committee “Accrual Accounting and
Budgeting – Key Issues and Recent Developments” September 2001, accessed at
http://www1.worldbank.org/publicsector/pe/Newsletter/Accrual.pdf
92 Ibid
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along with more timely reporting systems93. While the following summary is in no way exhaustive, it
outlines some problems with accrual accounting and common problems in the implementation of
accrual accounting and budgeting including:
•

The Government has certain types of assets and liabilities that do not exist in the private sector
such as heritage assets and infrastructure assets. Some argue that these assets should not be
valued; “yet to be questioned is the purpose of valuing culturally or historically important heritage
assets as if they were tins of baked beans”94.

•

The decision of what valuation method should be used can also be difficult as in the private sector
some organisations value their assets at historic cost while others adopt more current valuation
approaches. While current valuations are considered more accurate, practical considerations
often result in organisations and governments reverting back to historical cost valuations95.

•

Many private businesses have plundered despite, or perhaps because of, the existence of,
accrual accounting. Financial statements in the private sector often obscure and hide information
especially as a result of the consolidated accounting process, which can be extremely
complicated.

•

The argument that an entity should adopt accrual accounting in order to identify all assets and
liabilities is not correct. Governments can identify what assets they hold in the form of asset
registers that can be kept independently of any accounting system (and should be kept
independently to safeguard against record loss)96.

•

There are a number of judgement calls to be made in the preparation of accrual accounts such
as the valuation of assets. In the private sector, independent bodies make these decisions and
set the resulting standards. However, with governments, the decisions are likely to be made by
the Finance and Treasury Bureaux, who is not independent of the government. While the
Government will consider the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS), they are
under no obligation to use them. A common government response to this involves the
establishment of an independent advisory board on government accounting standards.

•

There are a number of implementation issues that will arise including the need to foster a “culture
change”. The change to accrual accounting cannot be seen as a technical exercise and overseas
experience has illustrated that to be successful, the change to accrual accounts must be linked
with wider public management reform. The pace of change must also be carefully considered.
Options include a gradual implementation department by department and the preparation of
parallel cash and accrual accounts “behind the scenes” prior to the unveiling of the new
accrual accounts.

•

Communication with politicians and the public is very important “the countries that were the first
to move to accruals generally cite the need for more and better communications as the single
biggest factor that was underestimated in the implementation to accruals”97.

•

In order to be useful accrual accounting and budgeting requires a technical understanding and
expertise that is not necessarily required for cash based accounting. The change to accrual
accounting will also likely require investment in sophisticated computer systems as the
preparation of timely reports on a more regular basis is an important aspect of accrual accounts.

93

Ibid
Alan J Robb “Financial Reporting: Accrual-basis won’t put a stop to abuse, plunder”, printed in the
National Business Review (NZ), 25 August 2000.
95 For further discussion of valuation issues see, OECD Public Management Committee “Accrual
Accounting and Budgeting – Key Issues and Recent Developments” September 2001, accessed at
http://www1.worldbank.org/publicsector/pe/Newsletter/Accrual.pdf
96 Alan J Robb “Financial Reporting: Accrual-basis won’t put a stop to abuse, plunder”, printed in the
National Business Review (NZ), 25 August 2000.
97 OECD Public Management Committee “Accrual Accounting and Budgeting – Key Issues and
Recent Developments” September 2001, page 9.
94
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4.3

Proposed changes to the Government accounts

4.3.1 Task Force review
While all governments around the world began recording their finances on a cash basis, many
developed countries have now converted to an accrual basis of accounting or adaptations thereof. In
Hong Kong, the concept of accrual accounting for public finances is a well-played tune with calls for
change dating back to the early 1990s. However, it was not until April 1999 that a Task Force was set
up, chaired by the Secretary of the Treasury, to review the governments financial reporting. This was
soon followed by a report from the Director of Audit98, which recommended that the government fully
consider the inadequacies of cash based accounting and benefits of an accrual based system. The
Director of Audit’s report also stipulated that, should accrual accounting be adopted, a definite
timetable of implementation should be set.
In his March 2001 budget speech, the Financial Secretary announced that the Government would
introduce accrual-based accounting in parallel with the traditional cash-based approach beginning with
the 2002-2003 fiscal year. The Task Force released a final report “Review of Government Financial
Reporting Policy” in June 2002, which concluded that “the existing government accounts are
considered effective in demonstrating budget compliance but do not reflect fairly the Government’s
financial performance, its financial position and resources that it employees to deliver public
services”.99
To address these issues a number of recommendations were made by the Task Force100, which
included that in addition to the cash accounts:
•

A set of consolidated accounts be prepared on an accrual basis including a Statement of
Financial Position and a Statement of Financial Performance;

•

A Stewardship Statement101 should be published; and

•

A Departmental Service Cost Statement102 should be published.

The Task Force recommended that, at least initially, parallel cash-based and accrual-based accounts
must be prepared as the cash-based accounts will demonstrate the adherence to set budgets for the
delivery of services while the accruals based accounts would highlight the costs of those services
being provided. Reconciliation between the two sets of accounts will be also provided to minimise
confusion.
In its review the Task Force considered the principles and standards of the International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSAS, which are issued by the International Federation of Accountants
(IFAC)) along with the experience of six developed countries103. However, the Task Force concluded
that “while there are advantages to be gained from following all requirements of the IPSASs and the
practices of some of the developed countries referred in this review, the Task Force considers that
there are circumstances in which the direct adoption of the overseas practices may not be the most

98

“Value for Money Report No. 33”, Director of Audit, October 1999.
“Review of Government Financial Reporting Policy”, June 2002, p.1, accessed at:
http://www.info.gov.hk/fstb/tb/cdr/report/e-chapter1-6.pdf
100Further details of the Task Force’s recommendations for changes to the Government Accounts are
summarised in Appendix D.
101 A Stewardship Statement provides details of the major physical assets (such as national parks,
marine habitat etc) with which the government has been entrusted
102 Departmental Service Cost Statement reflects the full costs of resources consumed by individual
Government departments and Bureaux in delivering their services.
103 Including Australia, Canada, New Zealand, Singapore, United Kingdom and U.S.A.
99
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appropriate given the local situation and the costs involved”104. The Task Force concluded that a
“pragmatic” approach was adopted in formulating their recommendations, taking into account overseas
developments and considering the merits of different reporting practices.
While the majority of interested parties support the Governments move towards an accruals based
system of accounting there are concerns as to the rate of change and the effectiveness of such change
in isolation without overall political reform. There is also concern that the Government will not be ready
for the changes “to capitalize the benefits of accounting changes, the various bureaux and
departments must be “organizationally ready” to accept performance-based measurement as a basis
for reward and corrective action”105.
Although the Task Force noted that “an inherent requirement for an effective budgetary control system
is that financial reporting and budgeting should be on the same based in order to allow controls to be
implemented and comparisons between the actual revenue and expenditure and the approved
estimates to be made effectively106”, it recommended that current cash based budget process remain
unchanged. In order to allow for the implementation of budgetary controls the Task Force
recommended the continued preparation of cash-based Government accounts which will be prepared
in parallel with the additional set of accrual-based Government accounts.

4.3.2 Changes recommended by the Task Force
An outline of the nature and timing of changes to the reporting of Government Accounts is included in
Appendix F. In summary, the most significant proposed changes which begin to come into effect in
the 2002-03 Government Accounts includes:
•

There will be two volumes of accounts prepared with Volume I being largely the same as existing
accounts but including a Departmental Service Cost Statement with enhanced inter-departmental
charging107. Volume II will include an alternative set of accrual based accounts, subject to
certain exceptions (see below) where the reporting boundary is extended to include the Lotteries
Fund and “Other Funds” created for meeting specific government purposes (such as the Quality
Education Fund). Other entities such as government owned corporations (including the
MTRC, KCRC and the Airport Authority), Trading Funds and the Exchange Fund will also
be included.

•

Assets to be included in Volume II which are not recorded in Volume I:
Financial Assets

104

Placements with the Exchange Fund.

-

Loans, Advances and Investments to the extent that they are likely to be recoverable.108
Existing loans and investments, which are currently recorded but are not recoverable, are to
be treated as losses and will be expensed to the Statement of Financial Performance.109

-

Stocks on hand, such as water supplies stock, to the extent that they are considered material.

“Review of Government Financial Reporting Policy”, June 2002, p.26
Citizens Party, Alex Chan “A Step in the Right Direction – Comments on Government Financial
Reporting Reform”, 30 July 2001 accessed at:
http://www.citizensparty.og/economy/govt%20accounting.html
106 “Review of Government Financial Reporting Policy”, June 2002, p.27
107 Other changes to Volume I include changes to the reporting boundary, which is further outlined in
Appendix F.
108 This will require periodic review of the recoverable value of these assets. Any increase in
recoverability will be included as revenue and any decrease in recoverability will be included as an
expense.
109 For instance the loans made by the Loan Fund should be valued regularily and any bad loans
may be written off.
105
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Fixed Assets
-

While the reporting of fixed assets begins in 2004-2005, data and cost values of fixed assets
will begin in 2002-2003 (see further details in Appendix F).

Net Assets of the Exchange Fund
•

•

•

Assets excluded from both Volume I and Volume II:
-

Infrastructure assets such as roads, drainage etc., which do not generate charges
from consumers.

-

All types of Land owned by the government. However, certain disclosures are to be made in
the notes to the accounts regarding land assets allocated to the HKHA as domestic housing
developments (currently reported as investments in CIF) and land granted at nominal or
reduced premiums to religious or subvented organisations.

-

Natural resources and heritage assets.

-

The power of the government to tax, to grant and to franchise as derived through legislative
powers.

-

Assets under Build-Operate-Transfer arrangements with the private sector (descriptions of
the assets and expiry dates of the relevant arrangements are however included in the notes
to the accounts).111

-

Income receivable at year-end.

Liabilities included in Volume II which are not recorded in Volume I:
-

Accrued pension benefits as independently valued by professional actuaries.112

-

Provision for contract gratuities accrued and for unpaid employee leave accrued. Other
specific provisions, namely redemption money payable in respect of land exchange
entitlements and interest thereon.

-

Government borrowings and promissory notes issued by the Asian Development Bank.

-

Commitments on capital expenditure and contingent liabilities are only to be disclosed in the
notes to the Government Accounts.

Liabilities excluded from both Volume I and Volume II:
-

•

Net assets of the Exchange Fund were formerly excluded from the consolidated accounts
because the Exchange Fund Ordinance restricted their use.110

Accounts payable at year-end (as all expenses are recorded on a cash basis in the Statement
of Operating Performance).

Major changes in Revenue treatment between Volume I and Volume II:
-

Receipts of a non-revenue or capital nature, such as the repayment of loans, sale of
investments, disposal of property and proceeds of government loans will not be treated as
receipts in the Statement of Receipts and Payments but will be treated as increases or
decreases in assets or liabilities, as appropriate.

113

110

The Exchange Fund is primarily used to safeguard the exchange value of the Hong Kong dollar
and to maintain the integrity and stability of Hong Kong’s monetary and financial systems.
111 At the expiration of Build Operate Transfer agreements the assets title and future economic
benefits usually pass to the government.
112 In between valuations of the pension liability accruals can be made at the end of each year
based on the pension payments paid and the expenditure accrued during the year.
113 Profit and net gross proceeds from the sale of assets will be treated as revenue.
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•

Major changes in Expense treatment in Volume II:
-

Payments of a non-expense or capital nature, such as the payment of loans, purchase of
investments and property and the repayment of government loans will not be treated as
expenses but will be treated as increases or decreases in liabilities or assets, as
appropriate.114

-

Accruals will be made for cost items such as pension liabilities; earned contract gratuities and
leave earned but not taken in order to fairly reflect the value of resources consumed during
the reporting period.

-

Ultimately in 2004-2005, depreciation will be provided for as an expense in order to spread the
costs of the fixed assets over their useful lives and to reflect the consumption of such assets.

The Task Force recommend that the long-term aim of the Government should be to produce a set of
accrual based accounts “conforming as far as practicable with international accounting standards and
gaaps (generally accepted accounting practices)”115. A phased implementation is scheduled to begin
in the 2002-2003 accounts and a post implementation review is scheduled for 2006-2007 to “re-assess
the costs and benefits of the implementation of the current proposals and to take a view on the way to
proceed thereafter” 116.

4.4

Overseas experiences with accrual accounting and budgeting

In its review, the Task Force on the Review of Government Financial Reporting Policy studied the
experiences in the adoption of financial reporting policies by the central governments of Australia,
Canada, New Zealand, Singapore, United Kingdom and the United States of America (USA).117 The
review revealed that all countries but Singapore have adopted some form of accrual accounting as a
basis for national financial reporting. While Canada had not yet adopted accrual accounting it had
been operating on a modified accruals basis since the 1980’s and intended to adopt an accruals basis
starting from 2001-2002118. All countries excluding Singapore and the USA have already, or plan to,
adopt forms of accrual-based budgeting. While New Zealand was considered to have the most
complete accrual based budgeting, accounting and reporting system of all governments throughout the
world, Singapore, which reported on a cash basis is the system most similar to Hong Kong.
The review noted that reasons for the shift to accrual accounting for the countries under review
included (1) the need to respond to the increasing results orientated and ‘value for money’ focus in the
public sector; (2) a need to supply more complete financial information amid concerns of large debts
and deficits and severe fiscal problems; and (3) as a part of public sector financial management
reforms which placed more emphasis on cost reductions and efficiency improvements. The OECD
also notes that most countries that have adopted accrual accounting have done so in the face of
overarching public finance and management reforms. These reforms usually aim to make the true cost

114

Losses and net gross losses from the sale of assets will be treated as expenses.
“Review of Government Financial Reporting Policy”, June 2002, page 73.
116 Ibid.
117 A summary of the financial reporting policies and practices of the six countries is included in the
“Review of the Government Financial Reporting Policy”, June 2002, Annex 6, which can be
accessed at http://www.info.gov.hk/fstb/tb/cdr/report/e-report-content.htm.
118 The modified accruals basis of accounting used in Canada meant that accruals principles were
adopted in all areas except for physical assets and tax revenues that used cash accounting
principles.
115
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of government more transparent and hold managers more responsible for outcomes and/ or outputs
while reducing controls on inputs119.
The Task Force also noted that, for the countries that have adopted accrual accounting, there was no
standardised approach to the reporting of assets, liabilities, revenues or expenditures. The review
concluded that each country adopts reporting practise that suits their particular circumstances. While
it appears that this is a fair statement for the treatment of assets and liabilities, we note that the
reporting of revenue and expenditure was applied fairly consistently across those countries that have
adopted accrual accounting excluding the USA120.
The extent of major assets reported or disclosed in the financial statements varied significantly as did
the basis of valuation of these assets. In New Zealand, which was the first of the six countries to adopt
accrual accounting, assets such as state highways (valued at depreciated replacement cost) and
commercial forests (valued at estimated net current value) are included in its accounts whereas other
countries, including Australia excluded these assets. Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom
also accounted for specialist military equipment while the USA disclosed these assets as “Stewardship
Assets” but treated them as expenses upon acquisition in the financial statements. Interestingly, all
countries reviewed included estimates and disclosure of pension liabilities, including Singapore, which
discloses its pension liabilities in a separate statement.
While the proposed treatment of financial assets in Volume II of the Hong Kong Government Accounts
(see above) is similar to the countries reviewed that prepare accrual based accounts, a significant
difference is the exclusion of physical assets such as land and infrastructure from the Hong Kong
Government Accounts. In Australia and the United Kingdom land and buildings are included and
valued at replacement cost while the USA values its land and buildings at cost less accumulated
depreciation. In Hong Kong land owned by the Hong Kong Government which is not included in the
existing cash or the proposed accrual accounts, includes (1) Undeveloped land (such as country
parks) and (2) developed land (which includes (a) land occupied by the government, (b) land which
use has not yet been identified, (c) land under infrastructure assets, (d) land allocated for domestic
public housing, (e) land granted under reduced terms for religious or subvented groups, (f) land held
for sale and (g) land held for investment purposes).

119

OECD Public Management Committee “Accrual Accounting and Budgeting – Key Issues and
Recent Developments” September 2001, accessed at
http://www1.worldbank.org/publicsector/pe/Newsletter/Accrual.pdf
120 The USA recognises tax revenues when received or when revenues are measurable and legally
collectible as opposed to other countries operating under accrual systems that recognise tax
revenues on an accrual basis only.
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A summary of the existing Government Accounting practices and the recommendations of the Task
Force as outlined in its report “Review of Government Financial Reporting Policy121” are summarised
below:
Time Period

Basis of Government Account and Budget Preparation

Before
2002/03

•

A statement of Assets and Liabilities and a Statement of Receipts and
Payments is prepared for the GRA and each Fund established under the
Public Finance Ordinance (PFO). These are largely prepared on a cash
basis but with some statement of assets and liabilities. 122.

•

Consolidated Accounts123 are prepared, again largely on a cash basis, by
combining the GRA and all Funds (except the Lotteries fund124).

•

Accrual based accounts are prepared for Trading Funds125 (such as the
Land Registry, Post Office etc.) and Government Utilities (such as toll
tunnels, marine ferry terminals etc.) These are not included in the
Consolidated Statement of Assets and Liabilities but the Utilities net
revenues are included in the Consolidated Statement of Receipts and
Payments.

•

Assets excluded from Government Accounts126 include:
-

Certain loans and investments in funds such as the Capital
Investment Fund are included in the individual Fund Statement of
Assets and Liabilities but are not included in the Consolidated
Accounts.

121
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-

Investments in public corporations, which operate on a commercial
basis an are managed independently, including investments in
entities such as the MTRC, KCRC, Airport Authority.

-

Other funds created outside section 29 of the PFO (such as the
Quality Education Fund and the Environment and Conservation
Fund) which are ultimately answerable to the Government, including
the Exchange Fund.

-

The assets and investments in statutory bodies established to carry
out specific objectives and in which the government owns a share of
net assets/ surplus funds as stipulated by statute.127

“Review of the Government Financial Reporting Policy”, June 2002, can be accessed at
http://www.info.gov.hk/fstb/tb/cdr/report/e-report-content.htm
122 While assets such as cash and bank deposits, investments with the exchange fund and
recoverable advances are included as assets in the Consolidated Accounts, certain Funds, such as
the Capital Investment Fund includes the value of their investments as assets in their individual
Statement of Assets and Liabilities however these assets are excluded from the Consolidated
Accounts. Liabilities recorded are limited to deposits held on behalf of others and suspense
accounts for net amounts arising from the re-grant or renewal of government property etc.
123 Consolidated Accounts include a Statement of Assets and Liabilities and a Statement of Receipts
and Payments.
124 The Lotteries Fund is excluded because the revenue from this fund, largely consisting of Mark
Six Lotteries, is earmarked for social service and cannot be used for general government purposes.
125 Trading funds are those established under the Trading Fund Ordinance (Cap.430) which are set
up for the provision of a specific service or group of government services. They operate on quasicommercial principles and are self-financing.
126 The majority of activities that are excluded from government accounts involve entities that already
prepare financial statements, mostly on an accruals basis.
127 Including statutory bodies such as the Hong Kong Housing Authority and the Hong Kong
Monetary Association.
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•

•

•

•

-

Assets employed by the government such as infrastructure,
buildings and plant and equipment.

-

Investment, loans and advances are stated at book cost and are not
adjusted to current market values.

-

Natural resources and heritage assets.

-

All types of land owned by the government.128

Liabilities excluded from Government Accounts include:
-

Liabilities such as accrued pensions, contract gratuities, untaken
leave of government employees and government borrowings.

-

Commitments on capital expenditure.

Revenue and Expenses excluded from Government Accounts
include:
-

Non-cash expenditure such as pension accruals or depreciation and
amortisation of equipment and property used in government
activities.129

-

Notional costs such as accommodation costs on government owned
property.

Other issues relating to Revenue and Expense treatment include:
-

Annual cash operating surpluses or deficits are determined without
excluding receipts and income of a capital nature. For instance
proceeds from the sale of investments are treated as an income and
payments for the acquisition of assets is treated as an expense.
The true costs of the overall provision of government activities are
therefore not available.

-

Individual departmental expenditure analysis is not available as
certain department expenses are paid through general accounts or
through departments such as the Government Property Agent and
are not charged back to the using departments.130

-

Expenditure analysis by policy area (e.g. education, transport) is not
available although allocation of resources is made on such basis.

A Total Fund Balance is calculated which represents the excess of
reported assets over liabilities; this is commonly referred to as the
Government’s Fiscal Reserve131.

128

Land owned by the government includes (1) Undeveloped land (such as country parks), (2)
developed land (which includes land occupied by the government, land which use has not yet been
identified, land under infrastructure assets, land allocated for domestic public housing, land granted
under reduced terms for religious or subvented groups, land held for sale and land held for
investment purposes)
129 Under accrual account principles expense charges such as depreciation are charged against
revenues earnt in the period to reflect the consumption of economic benefits embodied in the asset
that was used to generate revenue.
130 For instance the General Expenses of the Civil Service ((GRA Head 46) are not charged to each
department and rental paid by the Government Property Agency on behalf of a department is not
allocated accordingly.
131 Certain Funds, such as the Capital Investment Fund which include the value of their investments
as assets in their individual Statement of Assets and Liabilities, excludes these same asset from the
Consolidated Accounts
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•

Supporting statements are prepared, including GRA revenue and
expenditure analysis by head and GRA variance analyses showing the
variance from budget.

•

Budgeting process is based on cash accounting principles.

•

There will be two volumes of accounts prepared with Volume I being
largely the same as existing accounts except with the following changes:

•

-

The Consolidated Accounts will be renamed the Core Government
Account and will include the GRA and all Funds established under
section 29 of the PFO including the Lotteries Fund.

-

A Departmental Service Cost Statement will be prepared to reflect
the full costs of resources consumed by individual departments and
bureaux in delivering their services132.

-

Inter-departmental Charging will be implemented on a “below-theline” basis for inclusion in the Departmental Service Cost Statement.
This would result in the costs of internal service departments such
as the Treasury and the Department of Justice, Government
Property Agency, Information Services Department etc. being
allocated to those departments who benefit from them133.

The main features of Volume II are that the basis of accounting is
accrual accounting, subject to certain exceptions (see below) and the
reporting boundary is extended to include the Lotteries Fund and “Other
Funds” created for meeting specific government purposes (such as the
Quality Education Fund and the Hong Kong Housing Authority).134 Other
entities such as government owned corporations (including the MTR
Corp., KRCR and the Airport Authority), Trading Funds and the Exchange
Fund will also be included135.
Volume II of the Government Accounts will contain:

•

-

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

-

Consolidated Statements of Financial Performance.

-

Consolidated Cash Flow Statements.

-

Notes on the Accounts.

-

Stewardship Statement (prepared from 2004/05).

Assets to be included in Volume II include:
Financial Assets
-

132
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Financial assets including cash, deposits etc. (similar to what is
report pre-2002/03).

The Departmental Service Cost Statement will replace the Statement of Expenditure Analysis by
Head and Subhead. The statement will include (1) cash expenditure incurred by the department (2)
shared expenditure incurred in central Heads and Subheads expenditure (3) accommodation costs
of government leased or owned premises occupied by the department (4) accrued costs for
pensions, contract gratuities and untaken leave of staff of the department (4) depreciation of fixed
assets and (5) costs of services provided by other departments.
133 A list of departments recommended for the implementation of Inter-departmental Charging on a
“below-the-line” basis is included in Annex 14 of the “Review of Government Financial Reporting
Policy”, June 2002.
134 These funds will be consolidated on a line-by-line basis.
135 These entities and funds will be consolidated on an equity basis.
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-

Placements with the Exchange Fund.

-

Loans, Advances and Investments to the extent that they are likely
to be recoverable.136 Existing loans and investments, which are
currently recorded but are not recoverable, are to be treated as
losses and will be expensed to the Statement of Financial
Performance.137

-

Stocks on hand, such as water supplies stock, to the extent that
they are considered material.

Fixed Assets
-

While the reporting of fixed assets begins in 2004/05 (see below),
data and cost values of fixed assets will begin in 2002/03.

Net Assets of the Exchange Fund
-

•

•

Net assets of the Exchange Fund were formerly excluded from the
consolidated accounts because the Exchange Fund Ordinance
restricted their use.138

Assets excluded from Volume II include:
-

Infrastructure assets such as roads, drainage etc., which do not
generate charges from consumers.

-

All types of Land owned by the government. However, certain
disclosures are to be made in the notes to the accounts regarding
land assets allocated to the HKHA as domestic housing
developments (currently reported as investments in CIF) and land
granted at nominal or reduced premiums to religious or subvented
organisations.

-

Natural resources and heritage assets.

-

The power of the government to tax, to grant and to franchise as
derived through legislative powers.

-

Assets under Build-Operate-Transfer arrangements with the private
sector (descriptions of the assets and expiry dates of the relevant
arrangements are however included in the notes to the accounts).139

-

Income receivable at year-end.

Liabilities included in Volume II include:
-

Accrued pension benefits as independently valued by professional
actuaries.140

136

This will require periodic review of the recoverable value of these assets. Any increase in
recoverability will be included as revenue and any decrease in recoverability will be included as an
expense.
137 For instance the loans made by the Loan Fund should be valued regularily and any bad loans
may be written off.
138 The Exchange Fund is primarily used to safeguard the exchange value of the Hong Kong dollar
and to maintain the integrity and stability of Hong Kong’s monetary and financial systems.
139 At the expiration of BOT agreements the assets title and future economic benefits usually pass to
the government.
140 In between valuations of the pension liability accruals can be made at the end of each year
based on the pension payments paid and the expenditure accrued during the year.
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•

-

Provision for contract gratuities accrued and for unpaid employee
leave accrued. Other specific provisions, namely redemption money
payable in respect of land exchange entitlements and interest
thereon.

-

Government borrowings and promissory notes issued by the Asian
Development Bank.

-

Commitments on capital expenditure and contingent liabilities are
only to be disclosed in the notes to the Government Accounts.

Liabilities excluded from Volume II include:
-

Accounts payable at year-end (as all expenses are recorded on a
cash basis in the Statement of Operating Performance).

•

Reserves stated in Volume II will be separated into a General Reserve,
an Exchange Fund Reserve and a Capital Expenditure Reserve.141

•

Two Consolidated Statements of Financial Performance will be
prepared under Volume II; one will report expenses by their nature (e.g.
staff costs, subvention and grants etc.) and the other will report expenses
by their function (e.g. education, health, welfare etc.).

•

Major changes in Revenue treatment in Volume II include:
-

Receipts of a non-revenue or capital nature, such as the repayment
of loans, sale of investments, disposal of property and proceeds of
government loans will not be treated as receipts in the Statement of
Receipts and Payments but will be treated as increases or
decreases in assets or liabilities, as appropriate.

•

•

141
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142

Major changes in Expense treatment in Volume II include:
-

Payments of a non-expense or capital nature, such as the payment
of loans, purchase of investments and property and the repayment
of government loans will not be treated as expenses but will be
treated as increases or decreases in liabilities or assets, as
appropriate.143

-

Accruals will be made for cost items such as pension liabilities;
earned contract gratuities and leave earned but not taken in order to
fairly reflect the value of resources consumed during the reporting
period.

Ultimately in 2004/05 (see below), depreciation will be provided for as an
expense in order to spread the costs of the fixed assets over their useful
lives and to reflect the consumption of such assets.

The General Reserve includes net assets of the Government, less (i) net assets of the Exchange
Fund, and (ii) fixed assets. The Exchange Fund Reserve includes the net assets of the Exchange
Fund (which is governed by the Exchange Fund Ordinance). The Capital Expenditure Reserve
includes cumulative net fixed assets as valued in accordance with the recommendations as set out
in the above table.
142 Profit and net gross proceeds from the sale of assets will be treated as revenue.
143 Losses and net gross losses from the sale of assets will be treated as expenses.
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•

The overall Volume II Surplus/ Deficit for the year will be made up of
the surplus/ deficit from operating activities, the share of profits and
losses from equity investments (i.e. those entities except the Exchange
Fund that are consolidated on an equity basis) and the surplus of the
Exchange Fund.

2003/04

•

Same treatment as 2002/03.

2004/05

•

Same treatment as in 2002/03 plus the following additions.

•

Reporting of Fixed Assets and Depreciation in Volume II which
would include:

-

Buildings used to deliver government services should be
capitalised144 but minor building structures (such as public toilets)
should not be recognised nor should those which are surplus or
obsolete (such as the remaining facilities after the closure of Kai Tak
airport) and which are expected to be disposed of or demolished.

-

Plant and equipment used to deliver government services should be
capitalised145 but plant and equipment controlled and managed by
the subvented sector or statutory bodies (such as hospitals
controlled by the Hospitals Authority) should not be capitalised.

-

Infrastructure assets used by Government utilities entities that
generate charges from customers (such as water supplies, tolltunnels etc.) should be capitalised.

-

In both the Internal Department Charging and Departmental Service
Cost Statements prepared in Volume I, depreciation will be
provided for as an expense.

•

Preparation of a Stewardship Statement146 (pending the collection of
non-financial information prior to 2004/05) and including:
-

Information pertaining to the use of Government assets (including
land) by policy area groups (e.g. education, housing).

-

Non-financial information on infrastructure assets such as roads and
drainage, land and buildings used by the Government and land
allocated for domestic rental housing developments.

144

For all fixed assets including buildings, plant and equipment in stock prior to 2002/03 they need
only be capitalised if their depreciable value is over HK$1 million. However after 2002/03 purchases
of fixed assets should be capitalised if their depreciable value is over HK$100,000. Buildings, plant
and equipment should initially be reported at cost or fair value (i.e. depreciated replacement cost),
however, they subsequently should be stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation or at
valuation.
145 Ibid.
146 The Stewardship Statement will provide narrative details of certain physical assets in order to
demonstrate the Government’s accountability for their resource employment in the delivery of public
services.
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2005/06

•

Same treatment as 2004/05.

2006/07

•

Same treatment as in 200/06 plus the following post-implementation review.

•

The post-implementation review will be conducted to assess:

-

The appropriateness of format and style of the accounts, particularly the
usefulness and acceptance of accrual based accounts;

-

The suitability of accounting policies and areas for greater conformity to
international standards, particularly in respect of the accrual of revenue and
expenses.

-

The appropriateness of using an accrual based financial accounting
framework for budgetary planning, controlling and reporting.

-

The need to legislate amendments providing the legal framework for the
preparation, audit and tabling of the accrual based accounts.

-

The costs and benefits o IDC, the desirability of changing the scope of IDC
and of transferring IDC and other costs “above-the-line”.
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KEY DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CASH AND ACCRUAL ACCOUNTING147

Issues

Cash Accounting

Accrual Accounting

1. Timing of
transactions
recording

Recognises transactions only
when cash is received or paid.

Recognises transactions when the
obligation or event occurs which
gives rise to the payment or receipt,
irrespective of the time when
money settlements are made. The
transactions are events are
recognised in the financial
statements of the periods to which
they relate.

2. Reporting
Objectives

Gives a full account of the
receipts and payments made
in the reporting period only

Presents fairly the financial
performance (i.e. income and
expenditure) for the period covered
by the accounts and the financial
position as at the end of the
accounting period.

3. Recognition
of Assets

Treats all payments the same
way and does not distinguish
between payment of a
revenue nature (e.g. salaries)
or capital nature (e.g.
construction of an office
building). The only “asset”
recognised is the amount of
cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the reporting
period.

Distinguishes between revenue and
capital expenditure which will
generate economic benefits for
longer than the current year. The
valuation of such assets is open to
a range of possible interpretations,
e.g historical cost, replacement
value, net realisable value.

4. Recognition
of Liabilities

Basically does not recognise
any liabilities.

Recognises a liability when an
obligation to pay arises. Liabilities
can include accrued expenses,
borrowings, accounts payable and
accrued pensions.

5. Matching

The transactions are recorded
when cash is received or paid,
without regard to the matching
of revenue with the related
costs.

Matches revenue with related costs
so far as their relationship can be
established or justifiably assumed.
The revenue and related costs are
dealt with in the same accounting
period to which they relate.
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Summary extracted from “Review of the Government Financial Reporting Policy”, Annex 4, June
2002, which can be accessed at http://www.info.gov.hk/fstb/tb/cdr/report/e-report-content.htm
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